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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Fong Chun Man

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (HKICPA, ACCA, CPA Australia)

2 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

F e
HITES
FEXSTE(FE)
Bzt (BIF/E)

[REWER A (TTHAEE)

BYFHITES
ERCEAE
BBz A&
TZtaE
EREE®
BEERChRE(EE)
BB AT S A
&k
FMEEE
TLhE(EE)
BEECkE

B EAE
REZE®
B eI A (F/E)
BEECEE

T B
RERE
B A
BimE L

BREM
X

REWE

RIWEL T (BERTENLE ~ REVHFEF

BAEINE MBI ER)

=t

A
AN p/g



Corporate Information
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERES

To our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2021.

The Group has recorded a revenue of approximately HK$438.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$1.1 million or 0.3% as compared to the year ended
31 March 2020. The Group's net profit for the year was approximately
HK$5.5 million and approximately HK$4.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an increase of
approximately HK$1.0 million as compared with the year ended 31
March 2020, and the Group’s net profit margin increased from
approximately 1.0% to approximately 1.2% during the same period.
The increase in the net profit and net profit margin for the year ended
31 March 2021 was mainly due to the increase in the sale and
transportation of diesel oil business; which was offset by the decrease
in the sale of steel products and the increase in fair value change on
contingent consideration receivable for the year ended 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a fleet of nine diesel tank wagons
of various capacity to meet customers’ requirement. In order to
increase the total capacity of our fleet of diesel tank wagons to
facilitate the increasing demand from customers, and further reduce
the level of nitrogen dioxide and particulates to fulfill our social
responsibility, the Group had acquired three new diesel tank wagons
and replaced two existing diesel tank wagons.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a marine oil barge. Besides, the
Group had carried out marketing and promotional activities and
negotiated with potential customers to secure purchase orders for
marine diesel oil.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

Looking forward, the Group will strive to improve its operational
efficiency and profitability of its businesses. Notwithstanding the
adverse impact brought by the outbreak of the pandemic, we believe
that market trend of the sale of diesel oil and marine diesel oil market
in Hong Kong remains optimistic mainly due to the stable and high
level investment in public infrastructure including the railway network,
development of marine construction projects including the Hong Kong
International Airport’s third runway project together with the recovery
of logistics industry in Hong Kong.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to our shareholders
(the “Shareholders”), business partners and customers for their utmost
support to the Group. We would also like to take this opportunity to
thank all management members and staff for their hard work and
dedication throughout the year.

FONG Chun Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally carries on the business of sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products and other products in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). The Group also
supplies marine diesel oil used for construction vessels and lubricant
oil used for construction machinery and vehicles. Most of the Group's
customers are construction companies which require diesel oil to
operate their construction machinery and vehicles. The Group had a
fleet of nine diesel tank wagons of various capacity and a marine oil
barge as at 31 March 2021. The Group is also engaged in the business
of manufacturing and sale of steel products and injecting molding
machine in the PRC.

On 23 March 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to conditionally acquire 51% equity interest in Meijia Shell
(Global) Lubricant Technology Limited which is principally engaged in
the sale and distribution of lubricant oil in the PRC. The acquisition was
completed on 21 April 2020. Hence, the financial statements of Meijia
Shell (Global) Lubricant Technology Limited had been included in the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

Sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$371.3 million from
the sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products for the
year ended 31 March 2021, representing approximately 84.7% of the
Group's total revenue and an increase of approximately HK$43.2
million or 13.2% as compared to the year ended 31 March 2020. The
increase was mainly due to (i) the acquisition of Meijia Shell (Global)
Lubricant Technology Limited, which is principally engaged in the sale
and distribution of lubricant oil in the PRC and (ii) the increase in
demand of marine diesel oil in Hong Kong.

Sale of steel product business

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$66.9 million from
the sale of steel products for the year ended 31 March 2021,
representing approximately 15.3% of the Group’s total revenue, a
decrease of approximately HK$44.3 million or 39.9% as compared to
the year ended 31 March 2020. The decrease was mainly due to the
challenging economic environment, strict customer selection and
credit control policy implemented by the Group on the sale of steel
product business, revenue from the sale of the steel product was
mainly generated from sales to renowned valuable customers with
strong financial position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Meanwhile, the Group has executed strict control on costs and
expenses. The Group recorded a net profit of approximately HK$5.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The increase in the net profit
was mainly attributable to the increase in the sale and transportation of
diesel oil business; which was offset by the decrease in the sale of steel
products and the increase in fair value change on contingent
consideration receivable for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Excluding the fair value change on contingent consideration
receivables and payables, the net profit would have been
approximately HK$4.2 million and approximately HK$0.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an
increase of approximately HK$3.3 million or 366.9% as compared to
the year ended 31 March 2020.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2020, international oil prices fluctuated significantly. The outbreak of
the pandemic brings uncertainties to the international oil prices in
short-term. Notwithstanding the government has introduced massive
emergency fiscal plans to support workers and businesses, there is
clearly a long way to go before we can put the pandemic crisis behind
us. We believe we could work together to meet this historic challenge.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The outbreak of COVID-19 has brought adverse impact on the
economic condition in an international and domestic context. The
Directors will continue to observe closely and manage risks associated.

In view of the challenging business environment and keen competition
in the diesel oil sales market in Hong Kong, the Group will deploy
more resources on talent recruitment, strengthening the business
development and marketing strategy on diesel oil guardedly. The
Group will also proactively seek potential business opportunities that
broaden our sources of income and enhance value to the Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$1.1 million or
approximately 0.3% from approximately HK$439.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$438.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

Revenue from the sale of diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil
amounted to approximately HK$293.7 million, HK$63.1 million and
HK$9.2 million, representing approximately 67.0%, 14.4% and 2.1%,
respectively, of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2021. For the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenue from the sale of
diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil accounted for
approximately HK$271.6 million, HK$55.7 million and HK$0.8 million,
representing approximately 61.8%, 12.7% and 0.2%, respectively, of the
Group's total revenue. Sale of diesel oil remained the largest
contributor to the Group's revenue. The increase was mainly due to
increase in demand from construction customers and logistic
customers.

Revenue from the sale of steel products business amounted to
approximately HK$66.9 million, representing approximately 15.3% of
the Group's total revenue (2020: HK$111.2 million). The decrease was
mainly due to the challenging economic environment, strict customer
selection and credit control policy implemented by the Group.

The decrease in the Group's revenue was primarily due to the increase
in the Group's sale of diesel oil and related products, but offset by the
decrease of sale of steel products.

Cost of sales

Cost of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business primarily consists of diesel oil costs, marine diesel oil costs,
lubricant oil costs, direct labour costs and depreciation. The purchase
cost for the diesel oil, marine diesel oil costs and lubricant oil costs
depends on the domestic purchase price offered by the Group's oil
suppliers, with reference to the price indices such as Europe Brent spot
crude price. Cost of the sale of steel product business mainly consists
of raw material costs, direct labour costs and transportation costs. For
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s cost of sales was
approximately HK$410.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 1.3% from approximately HK$415.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020.
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Management Discussion
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group's revenue less cost of sales.
The Group's gross profit increased by approximately HK$4.3 million
from approximately HK$23.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2020
to approximately HK$28.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.
The Group's gross profit margin increased from approximately 5.4% for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately 6.4% for the year
ended 31 March 2021. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to
the decrease in our cost of sales for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Fair value change on contingent consideration receivable

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA") in relation to
the acquisition of Meijia Shell (Global) Lubricant Technology Limited
and its subsidiaries (“Meijia Group”), the Vendors have given a
guarantee to the Group that the audited consolidated net profit after
tax of Meijia Group for the three financial years ending 31 March 2021,
31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 (each of the “Guaranteed Period”)
would be no less than RMB5,000,000, RMB10,000,000 and
RMB10,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Sum”) for each of the Guaranteed
Period (the “Profit Guarantee”).

In case the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled for the corresponding
period/year, the Vendors shall pay of the difference between the
Guaranteed Sum and the actual audited consolidated net profit after
tax of Meijia Group (the “Shortfall”) to the Group. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the actual audited consolidated net profit after
tax of Meijia Group did not satisfy the Profit Guarantee. Hence, the
Vendors are required to pay the Shortfall to the Group in accordance
with the terms and condition stated in the SPA. The Group recognised
approximately HK$1.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recognised net profit of
approximately HK$5.5 million and approximately HK$4.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an
increase of approximately HK$1.0 million as compared with the year
ended 31 March 2020, and the Group's net profit margin increased
from approximately 1.0% to approximately 1.2% during the same
period. The increase in the net profit and net profit margin for the year
ended 31 March 2021 was mainly due to the increase in the sale and
transportation of diesel oil business which was offset by the decrease
in the sale of steel products and the increase in fair value change on
contingent consideration receivable for the year ended 31 March 2021,
Excluding the fair value change on contingent consideration receivable
and payables, the net profit would have been HK$4.2 million and
HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 respectively,
representing an increase of approximately HK$3.3 million or 366.9% as
compared to the year ended 31 March 2020.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The Group
recorded net current assets of approximately HK$72.7 million as at 31
March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's current assets amounted to
approximately HK$154.7 million (2020: HK$118.7 million) and the
Group's current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$82.0 million
(2020: HK$36.8 million). Current ratio was approximately 1.9 as at 31
March 2021 (2020: 3.2). Current ratio is calculated based on total
current assets at the end of the year divided by total current liabilities
at the end of the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2021, the maximum limit of the banking facilities
available to the Group amounted to approximately HK$65.0 million
(2020: HK$65.0 million) and approximately HK$21.3 million (2020:
HK$16.1 million) of the banking facilities was utilised.

The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars with
two banking facilities which respectively carried at variable interest rate
of the range from 5.7% to 6.6% and at fixed interest rate at ranged
from 4.8% to 20.4% per annum for the year ended 31 March 2021. For
the year ended 31 March 2020, all the bank borrowings were interest-
bearing which carried variable interest rate ranging from 3.57% to
4.88% and 2.76% to 3.97% per annum. As at 31 March 2021, the bank
borrowings of the Group were secured by the corporate guarantee,
fixed deposits and life insurance policy of the Group.

Gearing ratio was approximately 23.4% as at 31 March 2021 which was
calculated based on the total debt at the end of the year divided by
total equity at the end of the year (2020: 23.6%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$116.5 million (2020: HK$91.8 million). The share
capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

The Shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 12 April 2017
(the “Listing Date"”). On 21 April 2020, 78,000,000 consideration shares
of HK$0.01 each of the Company were allotted and issued as fully paid
for the Vendor (as defined below) at the price of HK$0.21 each under
the general mandate. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 April 2020. There has been
no change in the capital structure of the Group since then, save as
disclosed below.

EESMELR

R2021F3A31H  AEBEAAHMEFETHE
FRAB65.08 EH T (202045 : 65.08 &%
JC)  MA21.3B &AL (20204 1618 BB
T RITRECESA -

HE2021F3A3MBIEFE - RITEZAE
JLEHE - MIBIRITRE £ BIRIZ B F F| LN T
57% E6.6% i BERIZEFEFFENF48%E
204%FHE - EZE 202063 A31HIEFE - FT
BIRTERIRZHFREN T 3.57%5E4.88%
K276%Z397%5 82 - K2021F3A318 ¢
REBMERITERALEENARER - TH
TRRASREERER o

MR2021F3A31H BEEEBBEELERLY A
23.4% @ TR FERBEEBRAFREBERTE
(20204 : 23.6%) °

BEARRR

HE2021F3A3MHLEFE  FEEMNER
BERRARRHEAREERZDB1165A
AT (2020%F 1 91.8EEBIT) - AEEMK
NERFEERAR

BHmR2017F4 8128 EHmBEE]) BB
FTGEM 7 » 5420204 4 A 218 + 78,000,000
& F AR EEO0.01 BT AR R RERDIRIE—
BIBRFEEERONEBTNEREES (TR
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B B2HEALARIBEA2020F4A21 B
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FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the distribution of lubricant oil and steel products
transactions settled in Renminbi and financial assets with Malaysian
ringgit. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the group entities’ functional currency. The Group
however did not engage in any derivatives agreements and did not
commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the year ended 31 March 2021.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements
from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 23 March 2020, the Company and Mr. Zhu Yixiang and Mr. Li
Weinian (collectively, the “Vendor”) entered into the sale and purchase
agreement (the "SPA"), pursuant to which the Vendor conditionally
agreed to sell and the Company is conditionally agreed to purchase
51% equity interest in Meijia Shell (Global) Lubricant Technology
Limited at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$16,380,000. The consideration was satisfied by the allotment and
issuance of 78,000,000 Shares under general mandate (the
"Consideration Shares”) at the issue price of HK$0.21 by the Company
to the Vendor. The acquisition was completed on 21 April 2020. Upon
the completion, 78,000,000 new Shares, representing approximately
8.9% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 21 April 2020 (as
enlarged by the issue of the Consideration Shares), have been duly
allotted and issued as fully paid to the Vendor at the issue price of
HK$0.21 each under the general mandate. Accordingly, immediately
after the completion, there are 878,000,000 Shares in issue. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 23 March 2020, 31 March
2020 and 21 April 2020, respectively for details.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, save as disclosed from above of
this report.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THROUGH PROFIT AND
LOSS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had HK$4.8 million of key management
personnel life insurance with an insurance company. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Group disposed all equity of a company
listed in Bursa Malaysia Berhad and recorded a net realised gain of
approximately HK$0.4 million.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, save as disclosed below in the section headed
“"Use of Proceeds” in this report, the Group did not have any other
material capital commitments or any material contingent liabilities

(2020: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's pledged short-term bank deposits in
the amount of approximately HK$12.2 million, life insurance policy in
the amount of approximately HK$4.8 million and motor vehicles in the
amount of approximately HK$1.0 million were pledged as security for
the Group's banking facilities.

BEARE BERAWEREE®
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group’s implementation plans for
its business strategies up to 31 March 2021 as set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 March 2017 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group

RERRBETTERERETEE
ML B

LR ARRAR HEA2017F3 8298 BK
ZR(BRERD [ RKTEIMTEHERRR ]
—HiFTE A EEE E2021 331 B ERK
RISHEITETEI AR B BRI THE AL

actual implementation progress:

Business strategy

ES P

Implementation plan

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2021
2017F4HA1HZE2021%3H31H
M HEATEHE

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2021
BEZE202143A318W
BRIETER

Expansion and enhancement
of our fleet of diesel tank
wagons

I R E SR EE

Purchase three new diesel tank
wagons

Replace three existing diesel tank
wagons

Continue to evaluate the
effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons and assess our need for
additional diesel tank wagons in
view of our business development
BE SRR

R =HBRANSHTEER
BT SOm AT RE R ) A UL R
BITRE - WRHAERMAREREE
RUBEZIMITEENFER
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Three new diesel tank wagons had
been purchased and two existing
diesel tank wagons had been
replaced. The delivery of the rest of
new diesel tank wagon will be
completed at the end of March
2022.

The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons has been closely evaluated.
EBE=AHSairEE D IR
M ERIR A O SM AT EE o SR TS BO T
Sem AT B B P 2022 3 AR TT K
AT o
EERH SR EN BRI
NBITREK o
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Business strategy

ESE P

Implementation plan

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2021
20174HA1HZE20214%3H31H
AT E

KRBT EEERETEE
L& (@)

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2021
BHZE2021F3H31HH
BERETEE

Development and expansion
of our marine bunkering
business

TR MBS EHORES

Upgrading our information
technology and systems

RAEME MRS

Commence trial and full operation
of the marine diesel oil barge

Carry out marketing and promotional
activities and negotiate with potential
customers to secure purchase orders
for marine diesel oil

Evaluate the effectiveness and
operating efficiency of the marine
diesel oil barge

AR M SO B 2 EAUETT

HEITTISHENRSEEE @ I HE
ERPETERAESMBAERN
REERTE

AT P S B A B B A B AT
Purchase and upgrade new office
administrative information
technology systems

Continue to review and maintain
the performance of the information
technology systems
BEREFMNAETHEEFAR
REH

BEFHNREFEABHEERNE
i}

The Group had obtained all the
licences and permits and commenced
trial operation of the marine diesel oil
barge in April 2018 and commenced
full operation in July 2018.

The Group had carried out marketing
and promotional activities and
negotiated with potential customers
to secure purchase orders for marine
diesel oil.

The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of the marine diesel oil
barge had been evaluated from
time to time.
AREBEDERSHA BB NFFAE
I 74 2018 4 4 A B & A A 58 B A
M ETTI R 201847 ARG 2 E
FEEI
AEBECETHSHEREER
B WEEERFPETERNES
i SRV EREBATE -

B B RT fif i B Sl B 0 B R
REFTHE -

Minor upgrade of information
technology systems had been
done. The Group was still in
negotiation with the potential
suppliers on the requirements and
specification of the new office
administrative information
technology systems.

The Group closely monitors and
maintains the performance of the
information technology systems.
B EMB R RGO REFR
REBBF PR EITHEMBHR
R ESK RRE BB R R
TR o
AREBEZYEERGFEMBRR
MRS -
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Business strategy

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2021

20174818 %E2021543A31H

ESC P

R HETT ST &

ERRBEETEEERETEE
L& (@)

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2021
BHZE2021F3H31HH
BERETEE

Strengthening our manpower  ®

eI AF .

Recruit three drivers and three
logistics assistants to strengthen
our workforce required for our fleet
of diesel tank wagons

Recruit one safety supervisor to
enhance our occupational safety
management

Recruit (i) seafarers including two
coxswains, two technical operators,
four sailors, (i) one administration
staff, (iii) one operation manager
and (iv) one independent
consultant to cope with our marine
bunkering business

Evaluate the performance of the
newly recruited staff and assess our
need to recruit additional staff in
view of our business development
Provide training to our existing and
newly recruited staff and/or
sponsor our staff to attend training
courses on occupational health and

safety

LR ERE=RREE - A
MR AIG M AT FE BB KATR A
qE

PE—BLRET  UNEBELR
2ER

RBCE S B h i E )8

B BIEMEMNTF - WERIMIRE
BB KF () —BITHAE
(i) — BIRELE: R(v—RBL
Fafd

S ARE THRIR - Wi R
MEEXEBEREREELETH
BEELRTARE TRHEI
Y/ SEE T2 MBERFETY
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One logistics assistant was hired, it
is expected that the rest of staff will
be hired around March 2022.

Safety supervisor was hired through
job reallocation.

The Group contracted with a
service company to operate the
marine bunkering business.

The Group evaluates and assesses
the performance of our manpower
continuously so as to facilitate the
Group's business development.
Training courses and on-the-job
training have been provided to
staff.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FIBRERE

IR R BN 2019 F T FHRARE - I
NBEEEEMFSFREFR(FEREFHE])
(BHMBRBHEME &K EMRBRAIKR) #8451
BEET  ERERERRARR B HS2017
F4RAN AR EERAMATE AT TSR
SFEAS09BBEE T o

As disclosed in the annual report of the Company issued in 2019, the
actual net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the Share Offer (after
deduction of the underwriting commission and Listing related
expenses) were approximately HK$45.1 million, which was less than the
estimated Net Proceeds of approximately HK$50.9 million as set out in
the Prospectus and the allotment results announcement of the
Company dated 11 April 2017.

VAT #0511 B 22021 63 A 31 H W P15 IR

Set out below is the actual use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March

2021: BNERAR -
Expected
Actual use Unused timeframe for
Approximate of Net total Net the remaining
Planned use percentage of Proceedsup Proceeds up utilising
of total Net total Net to 31 March to 31 March net proceeds
Proceeds Proceeds 2021 2021 (Note 6)
BEE2021 %
EZ2021F 3A31AM FeETHA
Y k#@BfE 3A31EM e R FEREER
HERE HEFE MENEFEHE i AEREE
SERAE  HPESH ERAZ MEFE (= 6)
HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million
BEAT % BEAT BEETL
Purchase of diesel tank wagons BEERTES 7.8 17.3% 50 2.8 By 31 March 2022
(Note 1) (FzE1) R20229F3A31H
Z Bl
Purchase of marine diesel oil barge BB E AL M E 14.0 31.0% 8.5 55 By 31 March 2022
(Note 2) (H5E2) R202%63A311
Z Bl
Further strengthen our manpower E—TMEATF 6.1 13.6% 29 32 By31March 2022
(Note 3) GER) R202%3A317
Z Bl
Upgrade of our information RAEMEREESR 36 7.9% 0.5 3.1 By 31 March 2022
technology systems (Note 4) (FizE4) R2022%53A318
Z Bl
Working capital necessary for the EEE M REER 9.1 20.2% 9.1 - -
operation of the new diesel tank 8RB EN
wagons and marine bunkering ZiEES (HFES)
business (Note 5)
Working capital EEES 45 10.0% 45 -
Total Gl 451 100.0% 305 14.6
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USE OF PROCEEDS (Continued)

Note:

1 Three new diesel tank wagons had been purchased and two existing diesel tank
wagons had been replaced up to 31 March 2021.

2 Marine diesel oil barge had been delivered in November 2017 and has commenced
full operation in July 2018.

3 The Group has been actively involved in the recruitment and selection of suitable
candidates through various means including job advertisements in major
newspapers.

4 The Group was still in negotiation with the potential suppliers on the requirements
and specification of the new office administrative information technology systems.

5 The Group contracted with a service company to operate the marine bunkering
business.

6 The expected timeline for utilising the remaining proceeds is based on the best

estimation of the future market condition made by the Group. It will be subject to
change based on current and future development of market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group will apply the net proceeds
received from the Share Offer in the manners consistent with the
proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The implantation plans for
business strategies and use of net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus
were based on the best estimation and assumption of future market
conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus.
The Group will continue to implement its business strategies and apply
the net proceeds based on the actual development of the Group's
business and industry, as well as market conditions.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 58 employees (53
employees as at 31 March 2020) including the Directors. For the year
ended 31 March 2021, total staff costs amounted to approximately
HK$12.8 million (year ended 31 March 2020: approximately HK$10.3
million). Remuneration (including employees’ benefits) is maintained
within the market level and reviewed on a periodic basis. Employees’
salary and relevant benefits are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification, experience, positions and the Group's
business performance.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 11 June 2021, Eastern Champion Investment Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Ms. Li Loretta Shui Wah
(the "Vendor”) entered into the agreement for sale and purchase
in respect of the acquisition of the Property by the Company
pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to
acquire and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell office 4,
6/F, Nam Wo Hong Building, 148 Wing Lok Street, Hong Kong,
at an aggregate consideration of HK$21,000,000, which shall be
paid by the Company by way of (i) the cash of HK$9,820,000
which shall be paid in full on completion to the Vendor; and (ii)
the allotment and issuance of the 130,000,000 new Shares
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,180,000) at the issue price of
HK$0.086 per Share, credited as fully paid, for the purpose of
settling the consideration, to Mr. Li Fat Sang. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 11 June 2021 and 16
June 2021, respectively for details.

On 11 June 2021, the Company and the Vendors entered into the
memorandum of understanding in relation to the possible
acquisition of equity interest of the Target Company. The Target
Company and its subsidiaries is principally engaged in the
business of technical services support and consultation on
lubricant, production and sales and distribution of lubricant,
grease and other related products. For details, please refer to the
announcement dated 11 June 2021.

Mr. Lee Cheuk Shun and Mr. Fan Chunhua, being shareholders
interest in 80% and 20% of the equity interests of the Marco
(International) Lubricant Technology Limited, a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability (“Target
Company”).

BEMRER

(a)

R20215E6A1MB  RARIZERBA
A] Eastern Champion Investment Limited
Ei|j Loretta ShuiWahZ = ([E |) Bi 4
NAIWEZMETT L EE HE - Bt
ERBEBRHREWEMESERERE
HE BB KEH 148 EMITRESES
= #AR(E 521,000,000/ T 0 E#Hh
AR &) A ) 3R £ 9,820,0007% 7T (7B A 5T
B BB FET ) Ri)AL Fat
Sang L E L B TE T AR AR 11 0.086 % 7T
fid 2% K2 217 130,000,000 f% A BR 5 fE &2
BT A% 1 (A8 & 72 4911,180,000 7% 7T ) B9
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that throughout the year ended 31 March 2021,
the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company. Further details of the board committees of the Company
are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Group by the direction and supervision of the Group's
business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to day
management of the Group which is delegated to the management. To
this end, monthly financial and operational information are provided to
the Board for assessing the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated by
the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

20 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

TEERER

EERHIEYIARSRENDEERLR
BN EEERATRUNERAMMHEE - A2
AIMEEERAERIIENBRZIGEMES £
MR ([GEM EM&RR | M+ AT E
EaTRINEEE AmE ([REERTFA) -
EEREAEMBRZEEE AT RN
AEBERUMMREARABRRANEERE

go

BERA REE01E3A31 0 IFEEE
€ ARREETEERTHIFH—EA
SPRIESC »

Exg

EEENIERI A ASENERER
B FIUERAR UREREEERRR -
EEERESSERABASEEE RITHAN
BREREM - W EFENERZTREER
TARBEERR® - EHARAEERRS
R — TR BERAHRE X -

EESEB IARREREEARENEKR
B RULESAKEERKY 0 MAKEAR
FEEMRKRECAHEKTERRE - it
5 EFOREBARREHMBEREEER AN
EARFRREMBERRNKER - LEE S5
RRMNBEAREFEMS @ EEBARNESIER
RESEFRIERT AIRKRARBEHIRER
RIS AEAATAGE



Corporate Governance Report

ERERB®E

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code, which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Details of the composition of the Directors of the Company during the
year and up to the date of this report by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee
Mr. Chan Chi Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has
achieved an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The
composition of the Board is in accordance with the requirements of
Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. There are three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has account
professional qualification. More than one-third of the members of the
Board are independent non-executive Directors, which brings a fairly
strong independence element in its composition.
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The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment
on issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 55 to 59 of
this report. Other than that Ms. Lo Pui Yee who is the wife of Mr. Fong
Chun Man, there are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group's activities with
a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’ value.
The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-day
management of the Group as well as the implementation of the
Board's policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (the
“"Nomination Committee”), on 23 March 2017 with delegated powers
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affair. Each of the
committees of the Board has been established with written terms of
reference, in which the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee were amended and restated with effect
from 1 January 2019.
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The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”). The Chairman also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of other executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before
convening the Board meeting. For all other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and
the relevant information of each Board and committee meeting are
generally made available to Directors or committee members at least
three days in advance. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the management whenever necessary.

The attendance of each of the Directors at the Annual General
Meeting, Board Meeting and meetings of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee held during the
year is set out below:
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Attendance/Number of meetings

HERE EBETRE

General 'Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee
Esps RRAE 'EZEEE ENZEE FHZEEE® REZEE
Executive Directors: HTES !
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FEEE (£E) 1/1 8/8 - 11 11
Ms. Lo Pui Yee SEat 171 8/8 - - -
Mr. Chan Chi Fai REELE 1 8/8 - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors: B FHTES :
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECALE 11 8/8 5/5 1 11
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BBk 7 8/8 5/5 - n
Mr. Wang Anyuan FEnEE [l 8/8 5/5 n -
Note: B3
1. Include a Board meeting where the Chairman met the independent non-executive 1. BREREFEER  TRAZSR LENTESERE

Directors in the absence of the executive Directors and management.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising
from corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.
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Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years.

The independent non-executive Directors should be appointed for a
specific term and subject to re-election. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company. The appointment letter of each of the independent non-
executive Directors is for a term of three years, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are subject
to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-election
provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on pages 38 to 54
of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training course or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations. Records of the
training received by the respective Directors are kept and updated by
the Company Secretary of the Company.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
directors’ duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2021
are summarised as follows:

ESCRHERIIRERRE

RHPEENRHEEERR  ARTEZHES
DEFEEXEFRUBREEMNRE ZAHR
Rt - EEREE ERRSESENBBRT
AEFSFEHEINER - REEHRREE
ABEAH  2BEFCBBLFFIIRIEX
MEERLEE AR ZENSESEEE
Bk - BSEENBIREBRARRZARMWE
RENEF -

EERHE2021F3ANBILEFEESNE
ERENMBELEGERABSEREEER
SEBEET -

Type of training

EAEE
(Note)
Directors = (Pif=E)
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FESTE(FE) B
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Bmig+ B
Mr. Chan Chi Fai PREIB A B
Independent Non-executive Director BAKEHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert ExCrE A B
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BB SE 4 B
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRITEE B
Notes: ffEE -
Types of training EIEE
A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefing, seminars, ~ A:  HEHFI BERETRAEG G  HAdE 25
conferences, forums and workshops il &k TIES
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B: BIEMRETE - R - BT MR GEM ETRE

publications relating to the latest development of the GEM Listing Rules, other
applicable regulatory requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

BNEE  AMEREERERESREERETY
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and Mr. Wang Anyuan
were appointed as the independent non-executive Directors with
effect from 23 March 2017.

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance,
industry knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge
and experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an
important function of advising the senior management on strategy
development and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in
financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders
and the Company as a whole; and participate in the Company'’s various
committees including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fong Chun Man was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director of the Company on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chan Chi
Fai was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 23 March 2017.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is
also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the implementation of the business strategies, policies
and objectives set out by the Board and is accountable to the Board
for the overall operations of the Group. These functions and
responsibilities are current being shared by the management team.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 23 March 2017
in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference amended and restated with effect from 1
January 2019 in compliance with Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority,
duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both
the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and
Mr. Wang Anyuan meanwhile Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the balance,
transparency and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
the application of financial reporting principles, reviewing the
relationship with the external auditor and its independence assessment
and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company's accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (the "HLB"), and recommended the Board to reappoint
HLB as the Company's auditors for the year ending 31 March 2022,
which is subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings
and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 in this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 23 March 2017 in compliance with
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, which comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Anyuan and
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert together with Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Wang
Anyuan is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group,
review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals, and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Remuneration Committee is available on both the GEM website and
the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 in this report.
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Senior Management’s remuneration = AR EE
HK$ Number of individuals
BT AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 2

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus
and other merit payments are linked to the performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors and senior

management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 23 March 2017 which comprised Mr. Fong Chun Man
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Yuk
Lap and Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert. Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap is the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The written terms of reference are
amended and restated with effect from 1 January 2019.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the Committee has set
for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure in
the Company'’s corporate governance report as appropriate); identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of
reference setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website
and the Company's website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Policy as well as discussing matters
regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 22 to 23 in this report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2021, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for
maintaining proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable
accuracy the state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity
movement of the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue

as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 60 to 69 of this report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration for the audit
and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to the
Group was as follows:
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Services rendered HK$

RAIRE BT

Annual audit service for the year HE2021F3A31HIEFER 700,000
ended 31 March 2021 FREE IR

Non-audit service for the year HE2021F3A31HIEFEN 200,000

ended 31 March 2021 IEFE T AR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors will review the Group's corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with
the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report
which will be included in the annual reports upon the Listing.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as
below:

The policy of the Company specifies that in designing the composition
the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates for the Board
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational background,
professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the Board
in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise the
implementation of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revision that may be required, and recommend any such revision
to the Board for consideration and approval.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having
made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have
complied with the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31
March 2021 and up to the date of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and
encourage their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information
on the Group's business in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report,
there has been no significant changes in the constitutional documents
of the Company. The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held on Wednesday, 18
August 2021.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. Shareholders
also have the right to propose a person for election as a Director,
the procedures are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the
company secretary of the Company by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures
set out in “Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders” above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication relating
to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive Officer, in writing to
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the enquiries.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is
a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of
open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders
and investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the
Company (http://www.f8.com.hk) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai,
as its Company Secretary, Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok, the chief operation
officer of the Group, is the primary contact person who Ms. Leung Yin
Fai can contact.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the
Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures
and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as with management.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018
which sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may
propose a dividend.
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The Board will take into account the following factors when considering
the payment of dividends:

The general financial condition of the Group;

ii The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

iii The future cash requirements and availability;

iv. Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group's lenders;

v The general market conditions; and
vi  Any other factor that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws,
rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and
internal control include a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment within
the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the Board
together, and reports directly to the Board.
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In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed to
various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into
strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas
2 B <B4

Principal Risks
FTERE

ERABRASEEEKBRY  HABRSERR -
REZE2021F3A3MBLEE A&EEBET
TEZRBBA NS @ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ~%@@
b2 - BISRER RERER

Strategic Risks
market competition risk, reputation risk

B Rg

Operational Risks

LERR BPHHETR - T - EARRRSTEH

Financial Risks

B R MEETRR BB ~ R E B

Compliance Risks

BHABEROGURE - REFRMERES MK - TEHFRAR

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste;

BERR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk

CHNERR - A

R R

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances

BRER HEBXZ2NERSEBOERR
B 2 A5 51 3B 2

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the
risk identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate
management processes as well as to safeguard the Group against
unacceptable levels of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others,
(i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and
(i) an annual review of the implementation of the risk management
plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to
ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

Although the Group does not maintain an internal audit function, the
Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and internal
control systems and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group's system of internal controls and risk
management annually and further enhance the Group's internal control
and risk management systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The
Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of
the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of
the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint external
independent professionals to perform internal audit function for the
Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue
to review at least annually the need for an internal audit function.

Internal control on connected transaction

As a general control, the Group maintained a list of connected persons
and entities for the monitoring and identification of connected
transaction. The risk management and internal control of the Group
were reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that (i) the risk
management and internal control system of the Company was
adequate and efficient; and (ii) the resources allocated, staff
qualifications and experience in respect of the accounting, internal
auditing and financial reporting functions of the Company as well as
training programs and budget were adequate and sufficient.

Independent non-executive Directors’ view on internal
control for connected transactions

The management and independent non-executive Directors will
continue to monitor connected transactions of the Company. The
management and independent non-executive Directors consider that
information provided by the Company’s management to assist
independent non-executive Directors in their annual review of
connected transaction are fair and sufficient. The independent non-
executive Directors also made regular enquiries upon whether there is
any continuing connected transaction exceeding the proposed annual
caps to ensure that continuing connected transaction was identified
timely. The independent non-executive Directors have not
encountered any challenges or difficulties in their annual review of
connected transaction of the Company save as disclosed in this report.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the necessary
actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the CG Code.
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on 30
March 2016.

The shares of the Company have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange by way of placing and public offer on 12 April 2017.

On 21 April 2020, 78,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
were allotted and issued as fully paid for the vendor at the issue price of
HK$0.21 each under the general mandate. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 21 April 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The principal activity of the Group is
the operation of the business of the sale and transportation of diesel
oil and related products and other products in Hong Kong and in the
PRC, and the business of manufacturing and sale of steel products and
injecting molding machine in the PRC.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 77. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2021.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years is set out on pages 191 to 192 of this
report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any
significant investment, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies save for the section headed
“Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this
report, and did not have any future plans for material investments and
capital assets as at 31 March 2021.

38 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

AN

AAREEMASRESZ2HREERNAEEE
E2021F3ANBUEFE 2 EEZTBRE -

TEREARKROBE

AATIN2016E3IANBREATEERS
BHEaMR BEREER AT -

RATRMN2017F48 128 B BRERA
FA B = AR S BT GEM 7 o

202054 A21 8 - 78,000,000/% A& E1E0.01
BT ARG R MR — MR EIRETES
fR021 B mE A RETEEERG - B
B — 15 B2HEAARHEA2020F
4821 BRI R o

FEED

ARBZETBEHR/REER - HNB AT
IZEPERGEVBHRRME - AEEE
RHERD R BIHEITHH R AR R fn A S B A
FE im0 34 65 SOE 8 A KA AR B B A A o SO
BHRBGE R HE XS

* II‘E & Hﬁ I%\

AEEHZE2021F3831HIEFENTBE
WA RN Z B AEBO PSRRI E T
WKRFBIOETIE - EBTEFEREZE 20214
3 A3 HIEFEIRERRE ©

MBEHE

NEBZOTIRBAREZXBURBERE
BEMEHAAREEI191E1925 °

EARBUREHREARERER
BEMRRETE

HE221F3A3MBLEFE BAFETEKR
wE - BARERHE | —&5 NEEHE
ERB AR BB ATMNEXNRE - EAK
B HE BER2021F3 A3 B EMLME
KIE R EREERRKETE -



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company's shares were listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. A total of 200,000,000 new shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Share(s)") were issued at
HK$0.32 per share for a total of approximately HK$64.0 million. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer, after
deduction of the underwriting commission and related expenses in
connection with the Share Offer, was approximately HK$45.1 million.
The net proceeds, upon receipt by the Company after Listing, has
been deposited at a bank and such net proceeds will be applied in the
manners consistent with the proposed applications set out in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2021 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 74 and note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operation, business and

prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The

followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group

relating to our business:

The Group is dependent on the major supplier (in terms of total
purchases) for the supply of diesel oil. Any shortage or delay in
the supply of diesel oil from it, or any change in its existing
marketing strategies may materially and/or adversely affect the
Group's business and results of operations if we cannot secure
alternative sources of supply immediately.

The Group's customers are not subject to any minimum purchase
requirement to purchase diesel oil from the Group.

A significant portion of the Group's revenue was attributable to
the sale of diesel oil and its profitability may be adversely
affected if demand for diesel oil declines for any reason.

The demand for our diesel oil would be adversely affected by the
delay in public sector projects caused by failures or delays in
passing funding for public work proposals by committees of the
Legislative Council due to lawmakers’ filibustering.

The Group's business and results of operations are dependent
on the oil price which are driven by factors beyond the Group's
control and the uncertainty of the crude oil price could have a
material adverse impact on the Group's financial condition and
results of operations.

Changes in the market conditions and trends in the construction
industry and in the overall economy may affect the Group's
operations and growth.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Up to 31 March 2021, there has been no purchase, sale or redemption

of any Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its

subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2021
and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee (Vice Chairlady)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan

Pursuant to article 84 of Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles, provided that every Director shall be
retired at least once every three years. Accordingly, each of Mr. Kwong
Yuk Lap and Mr. Wang Anyuan, our independent non-executive
Directors, will retire from office as an independent non-executive
Director at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") to be
held on Wednesday, 18 August 2021. Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and Mr.
Wang Anyuan, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent and meet the independent
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company and shall continue thereafter unless
terminated in accordance with the terms therein. Under the terms
of the service contract, the service contract may be terminated by
not less than three months' notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.
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(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company which may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by either
party on the other. The term of service of a Director is three years
commencing on the Listing Date subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 55 to 59 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during or at the end of the year
ended 31 March 2021.

As of 31 March 2021, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole
or any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021
and up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that the internal control measures in relation to
managing actual or potential conflict of interest of the Group have
been properly implemented.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS

On 23 March 2017, Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited
(being controlling shareholders of the Group) entered into a deed of
non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to which each
of Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited has irrevocably and
unconditionally, jointly and severally, warrants and undertakes with the
Company that, immediately upon the Share Offer becoming
unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall procure each of his/its
close associates and any company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr.
Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited (except for the members the
Group) shall not, except through any member of our Group, directly or
indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as principal
or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement and whether for profit or otherwise), carry on,
engage in, invest or acquire or hold any rights or be interested or
otherwise involved in any business that is similar to or in competition
directly or indirectly with or is likely to be in competition with any
business currently and from time to time engaged by our Group in Hong
Kong and any other country or jurisdiction to which our Group carries on
business or grants franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).
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Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited further undertake that
when he/it or his/its close associates other than any member of the
Group is offered or becomes aware of any new project or business
opportunity (“New Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to
engage or become interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall
promptly notify our Company of such New Business Opportunity in
writing, refer the same to our Company for consideration first and
provide such information as may be reasonably required by our
Company to make an informed assessment of such New Business
Opportunity; and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the controlled
persons or controlled company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity is
declined by our Company, or our Company does not proceed with
such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from the date
of the written notice (of if requested by our Company in writing, such
30 business days period may be extended to a maximum of 60
business days), and the principal terms of which he/it and/or his/its
close associates invest or participate in are no more favourable than
those made available to our Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited have both confirmed
to the Company of his/its compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under the
Deed of Non-Competition have been complied by each of Mr. Fong
Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited and duly enforced during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

For the year ended 31 March 2021, there has been no purchase, sale or
redemption of any Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any
of the subsidiaries.

Interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (i)
to be entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the
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Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows: NE
Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
EERE B EmttE BEROHE BREDL
Mr. Fong Chun Man Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 480,264,000 54.7%
(Long position)
FEXRE REfhEEERE (1) 480,264,000 54.7%
(F2)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Interest of spouse (Note 2) 480,264,000 54.7%
(Long position)
gt e (et 2) 480,264,000 54.7%
(4F%)
Notes: ffEE -
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZERMBETERARFA - H100% BAEHTTE

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

2. Ms. Lo Pui Yee is the spouse of Mr. Fong Chun Man and is therefore deemed to be
interested in all the shares which Mr. Fong Chun Man is interested for the purpose
of Part XV of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO
(including interests and/or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered
into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2021, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed to have interests in shares or underlying shares which
(i) were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules or, (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of any member of our Group.

Br EXXPTHEEEE N R2021F3A318 - #
BEERANFZTTHRAERA AR HEME
BrE(Tx BESLEEEDIFEXVE) /K
D MG REEETES () REFESF RS
EIEPIEVEETRSD MAME AN T B
R EDSAR (BEREFEAFALPE
&8 BIES E (ESARIE A R R, 5
KA K BINAREES RBEEAE
32 EBAFBEME LM AT MERIAE
g (i) IR % GEM L 48 B S5 5.46 16 R 5.67 168
AN ARRRBMRANESRETESRR S
MmAMEG AR F LB R TR E RSO R -

TERRREMATREAL TR EHEE
EHRG  HEROREEZTIHERR
RE

MR2021F3A318 " BEEMA » THALCR
AEIEBREEHTTERABRIN R HkiEEE
B& 0 P B S R IEE B s - () B AR
RARIRIBEES KRB ERDI5E 336 6 iR T AT
BRERGM - k(i) RIEEH & EE GG XV
ESE 2 N2 30 BB IEST K GEM _E T AR BIl M #5 T BA
W - Sk (i) 8 B B ok R O B A AE R AT R BT
EBERTEAEBEMKEARTMBREAS
RRE T KB RIRL AN E B 10% sk A - h A

Ns
= o

T
Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
BRREB A B EnttE BEROHBE BREDL
Grand Tycoon Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 480,264,000 54.7%
(Long position)
REFBRAA BEamEAA (M) 480,264,000 54.7%
(FE)
Notes: fisE -
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZEROBEFERARREE - H100%KEHT &

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors have not
been notified by any person who had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

46 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NEAERE - RS R EEIIEXVEmE - &
NEERBEANEFTARATEE 2 2B BT %
Bl -

B EXXCHEEE SN R2021F3 A3 H - &
ERALTEHNEEETRARE KD - HERND
SERETRE AN AREZES LRERDIE
B IRAEFENERRMAREEF KRB RS
FEXVEBF 2} 37 BRIGRSUR T EE 2 i SR

PN
=



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme in
which certain eligible participants including, among others, the
Directors and employees of the Group may be granted options to
subscribe for Shares on 23 March 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The
share option scheme became unconditional upon the Listing Date.
Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant
options to eligible participants to subscribe for Shares.

No share options were granted since the Adoption Date up to 31
March 2021, and there was no share option outstanding as at 31 March
2021. Therefore, the Company may grant options in respect of up to
80,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result from a sub-
division or a consolidation of such 80,000,000 Shares from time to time)
to the participants under the share option scheme.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders or the
Directors and their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with our Group's business during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirms that all of the Directors complied with such required standard
of dealings and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as at the date of this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Director is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest customers
accounted for 20.5% and 51% (2020: 16.3% and 51%) of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year ended 31 March 2021,
the Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 22.2% and 70.3% (2020: 29% and 60.3%) of the total
purchases of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended
31 March 2021 did the Directors, their associates nor any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the
Group's major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 30 August 2019, 18 September 2019 and 25 October 2019, JLFa#T
= HRHEBRAE] (Jiangxi Xinji Power Technology Company
Limited*) (“Jiangxi Xinji”), a subsidiary of the Company, for the
purpose of its requirements necessary for production of steel products
and motor parts, had entered into certain purchase transactions with
i (88 S AR AT (New Steel (Shanghai) Trade Co., Ltd.*) ("New
Steel (Shanghai)”) for the purchase of iron and steel materials (the
“First Purchase Transactions”). During the period between August
2019 and June 2020, Jiangxi Xinji had entered into certain purchase
transactions with FUAFE 75 (¥1R)/2ELF M RHEAMTE R A 5] (Wisdri (Xinyu)
Cold Processing Engineering Co., Ltd.*) ("Wisdri (Xinyu)”) for the
purchase of iron and steel materials (together with the First Purchase
Transactions, the “Purchase Transactions”).

During the period between August 2019 and March 2020, the
aggregate amount of the Purchase Transactions incurred by the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to approximately
RMB15,991,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$17,923,000).
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Jiangxi Xinji is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
holding 55% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji. The remaining equity
interests in Jiangxi Xinji are held as to 35% by #TR i & B AR A 7
(Xinyu Iron and Steel Corporation Ltd.*) (“Xinyu Steel Group”) (a
state-owned enterprise) and as to 10% by a shareholder. Xinyu Steel
Group, being a substantial shareholder of Jiangxi Xinji, has held 100%
equity interest in New Steel (Shanghai), which in turn is an associate of
Xinyu Steel Group by virtue of Rule 20.11(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Furthermore, Wisdri (Xinyu) is owned as to 70% by #5R#f i# iz 10 BR A
7] (Xinyu Iron and Steel Co., Ltd.*) (“Xinyu Iron and Steel”) which in
turn is owned as to approximately 38.17% by Xinyu Steel Group.
Therefore, Wisdri (Xinyu) is an associate of Xinyu Steel Group by virtue
of Rule 20.11(3) of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, each of New Steel
(Shanghai) and Wisdri (Xinyu) is a connected person of the Company at
subsidiary level and the Purchase Transactions between the Group and
each of New Steel (Shanghai) and Wisdri (Xinyu) constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The purchase prices for the Purchase Transactions have been and will
be determined on order-by-order basis with reference to the prevailing
comparable market price after arm’s length negotiation between the
Group and each of New Steel (Shanghai) and Wisdri (Xinyu). The
purchase prices are settled in cash. Our Group has purchased the iron
and steel materials on an as-needed basis and will continue to do so
on such basis. As the iron and steel materials required are generally
readily available in the market, it is our policy to obtain quotations from
at least three independent suppliers that provide similar materials
before we make any purchase from New Steel (Shanghai) and Wisdri
(Xinyu). Based on the fee quotes provided by other independent
suppliers, we will be able to ensure that the purchase price to be paid
to New Steel (Shanghai) and Wisdri (Xinyu) by our Group represents
the prevailing market price and on normal commercial terms.

We have purchased iron and steel materials from Wisdri (Xinyu) and
New Steel (Shanghai) since August 2019 and November 2019
respectively. Since our Group is satisfied with the quality and timely
delivery of the materials provided by Wisdri (Xinyu) and New Steel
(Shanghai) and the terms offered by them to our Group are on normal
commercial terms, our Directors are of the view that it will be in the
interests of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole to continue the
Purchase Transactions with Wisdri (Xinyu) and New Steel (Shanghai),
where necessary.

The Company estimates that the amount of the annual cap in respect
of the Purchase Transactions is HK$65,000,000 for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 and HK$72,000,000 for the financial year ending
31 March 2022.
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of the
Purchase Transactions incurred by the Group amounted to
approximately RMB55,032,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$63,083,000).

Pursuant to Rule 20.99 of the GEM Listing Rules, a connected
transaction between the listed issuer’s group and a connected person
at the subsidiary level on normal commercial terms or better is
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
shareholders’ approval requirements if: (1) the listed issuer’s board of
directors has approved the transactions; and (2) the independent non-
executive directors have confirmed that the terms of the transaction
are fair and reasonable, the transaction is on normal commercial terms
or better and in the interests of the listed issuer and its shareholders as
a whole.

Owing to the latest situation of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
suspension of work of Jiangxi Xinji around January to March 2020
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, the management of the
Company was not in a position to maintain effective communication
with the staff of Jiangxi Xinji for purpose of gathering sufficient
information for the Board of Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors) to consider and approve the Purchase Transactions
on a timely basis. In June 2020, during preparation of the annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has managed to
gather all necessary information from Jiangxi Xinji regarding the
Purchase Transactions for approval by the Board in accordance with
Rule 20.99 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Confirmation from the Directors in relation to Continuing
Connected Transactions

On 30 June 2020, the Company has obtained the approval from the
Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) regarding
the Purchase Transactions. Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) have confirmed and ratified that the terms of the Purchase
Transactions have been entered into and will be carried out:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreements governing the Purchase
Transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company confirms that the Company has complied with the
reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions
set out above.
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The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
consider that the Purchase Transactions above and the annual caps are
fair and reasonable, and that such transactions have been entered into
and will be carried out in the ordinary and usual course of the business
of the Group, on normal commercial terms, are fair and reasonable,
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

As such, pursuant to Rule 20.99 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Purchase
Transactions are only subject to reporting and announcement
requirements, and are exempted from the circular, independent
financial advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions disclosed above in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong GEM
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board in respect of the
disclosed continuing connected transactions that nothing has come to
their attention that (i) causes them to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the
Company's board of directors; (i) were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; (iii) had exceeded the caps set by the company; and (iv)
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group did not enter into any transactions which need to be disclosed
as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 43
to the consolidated financial statements of this report. These related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in notes 12 and 13 to the Group's consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt
from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve
the corporate governance practices and standards constantly. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code
Provisions”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20
to 37 of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2021 or subsisted at the end of the reporting
year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers in order to
meet its employees, immediate and long-term goals. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material or significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers and customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws
of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a directors’ liability insurance
was currently in place to protect the Directors against potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.

52 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

AN

TEER
RABBNEREEREKENEEERE
. WETERIERRECEERTRRE
Ko HE2021FIANBIUEFE S ARAl—
BEEFGEM EmAR AT AEHTEESR
SPRIE9SF RIS (<RI ) o

ARBAFRAZ EEERERFBERARE
F20EITAMBRERRE °

R 30 4 89 175

Br [ BEREAERTE ] —EATIEE I - AR AW
HEREE2021F3A3T B IEFEFT LSRR
EFEERB DA S -

RUDXRIFRE

REARA A AFHESNERKAESHAA
MRAR®REBH  AARE#FFGEM LM R Al
PR ERNRIANRFFRE

BES FF - HAEBAREMAL
KBRS BAE

AEERRERE - HEBEEFPRERIFE
BFUABRENE REHEENERNE - NHE
HE - AEEERES HERLEP CHELE
BREHBARMD -

BrRBERER

SRS ARNARBERBARRARZLA
FRERREEHENRN ZBEBERIE
ARER Z A5

BEFFVRIEMRX

HE221F3A831BIEFE > ARAFBRE
KBERETRE  UWREEE2ZAKIEE
FRRMAI R EBERARET -



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 58 employees (2020: 53
employees) including the Directors. The remuneration package the
Group offered to the employees includes salary, bonuses and other
cash subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’ salaries
based on each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The
Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of the Group's
decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and outlook of the Company as well as a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position,
including a description of an indication of likely future development
can be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on
pages 6 to 19 of this annual report. Those discussions form part of this
report.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or tax exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

The Company received HK$165,000 tax relief for the year ended 31
March 2021, which is reflected in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Wednesday, 18 August 2021,
the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of the Company in
accordance with the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 13 August 2021 to Wednesday, 18 August 2021, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of the Company
will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 12
August 2021.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and
related products business of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
Hong Kong.

These laws and regulations cover a broad range of environmental
matters, including air pollution, noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil
products or other hazardous substances. The Group recognises the
importance of environmental protection and has implemented various
environmental protection measures in order to minimise the operation
impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will continue to monitor the business operations in order to
ensure that it does not have only significant adverse effect on the
environment and that the Group's environment protection measures
are adequate to ensure compliance with all applicable current Hong
Kong laws or regulations.

As at the date of this report, no prosecution, penalty or punishment
has been imposed upon the Group for the violation of any
environmental laws or regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
significant events that have occurred requiring disclosure.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2021
has been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible to offer themselves
for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
FONG Chun Man
Chairman

54 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

REBERRERE

AEBNEFEEK RO REEERBE RE
W XEERREERERRE  BREEEE
BIZE 31 EEBERSEE HIRG R BB ED
% 358 EIKIFE G

RERRMERBRERREZNRESE - &
RZERSR - REMREBHN - AHEMSKE
EEVENRR - ARERRRRRENE
2% - WEBRZRRRREREAGEBE
RIERARRERNTEREREK -

REEGBEERLHEY  UBRADEY
BHEREATHEE  MAEEERLHE
R AR T A BB R TR
S o

RARE B AERERERERTARBA
BRICERME ST - RSB

BEMRER

BARFERABREEN  EFSXLTATEMD
BAMATRBEIERNEN -

B ED

HE2021F3A3 B IEFENGRE P BHImE
ERBEESFMESMBRARER - MEHK
REERRBEFRE LRELTAERREE
BISET -

EHEEZMm

Fe¥(ER)EEERLAA
TE
FEX



Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEEREREERBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Chun Man (“Mr. Fong"), aged 41, is our founder, executive
Director, Chairman, compliance officer, member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee, and is responsible for our
Group's overall corporate management and business development
strategies. Mr. Fong was appointed as an executive Director on 23
March 2017. Mr. Fong established our Group in early 2005 and was
appointed as the director of Great Wall (International) Oil Limited in
December 2005.

Mr. Fong has over 16 years of experience in the sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products. The performance of the Company is
achieved in great level. He was responsible for the Company'’s daily
operation, including but not limited to submitting tender proposals
and undertaking construction projects, managing its corporate
accounting and administrative matter, monitoring the logistics of
projects and contacting suppliers and customers, such as authorised
agents appointed by the Oil Majors. Mr. Fong has also been the
director of Jet Good Limited since April 2005, a company whose
principal business involves the provision of construction materials and
related logistics services in Hong Kong, where he has gained
experience in business operation and management expertise.

Mr. Fong has completed the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examination
in July 1999 and has been a committee member of the 13th and 14th
sessions of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Guangzhou City Yue Xiu District Committee (FEIARBUAHEE3E
MTHFRZ BEE) since May 2008 and the committee member of the
13th session of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Guangzhou Committee (FRARBUAHEEZEMTZ B ) since
January 2017. Mr. Fong is the director and the chairman of the audit
committee of Pok Oi Hospital, a non-profit hospital in Hong Kong since
2012 and the director of the planning and procedure department of
the Hong Kong Road Safety Patrol since March 2015. He is also the
current honorary president of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association
Shatin branch. Mr. Fong is the spouse of Ms. Lo.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Ms. Lo Pui Yee ("Ms. Lo"), aged 42, was appointed as our executive
Director, and vice chairlady on 22 August 2016. Ms. Lo is responsible
for supervising the overall administration and operation of our Group.
She has more than 18 years of experience in the business
administration and marketing area. Ms. Lo joined our Group in June
2016.

Ms. Lo has completed the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examination in
July 1999. Since June 2002, Ms. Lo has gained exposure in the daily
administration, operation and executive management and has been a
sole proprietor of Alpha Communications Company, which carries on
the business of the provision of telecommunication and internet
services, and has been responsible for supervising the business
development and corporate governance. Since 2011, Ms. Lo has been
a director and shareholder of Luxe Tuxedo Limited, an apparel
company offering high-end men'’s formal suit and attire in Hong Kong,
responsible for overseeing the administrative function, enhancing
communication channels between management and staff and product
branding. Ms. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Fong.

Saved as disclosed above, she was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Chan Chi Fai (“Mr. Chan"), aged 40, was appointed as our
executive Director and chief executive officer on 22 August 2016 and is
responsible for the operation of our fleet of tank wagon and business
strategies implementation. Mr. Chan has joined Great Wall
(International) Oil Company since September 2010.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher certificate and a higher diploma in Civil
Engineering from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in
July 2007 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Chan also completed the
certificate for Safety Supervisor (Construction Industry), Safety Training
Techniques Course and Safe Working Cycle Course in February 2002,
January 2009 and January 2009, respectively. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Chan worked as a foreman in Yuk Shing Engineering Co.,
Limited from March 2000 to February 2007 whose principal business is
construction and engineering, responsible for general site operation
for drainage work and earthwork. From March 2007 to July 2010, Mr.
Chan joined Vibro (H.K.) Limited and was promoted as a geotechnical
field technician, whose principal business is construction, responsible
for ground investigation arrangement and carrying out necessary
testing.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert (“Mr. Chui"”), aged 64, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chui is
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chui obtained a Bachelor’s degree in commerce from the
Concordia University in June 1978 and was awarded the Medal of
Honour by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2014. Mr. Chui is currently a practicing certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants since June 1991 and the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants since May 1989. Mr. Chui has over 35 years of
experience in the accounting field and is the founder of a Hong Kong
accounting firm, Robert Chui CPA Limited since August 1991.

Mr. Chui has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited, (Hong Kong
stock code: 417), National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group
Limited, (Hong Kong stock code: 8228), Wing Lee Property Investments
Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 864) and Asia Cassava Resources
Holdings Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 841) since April 1999, May
2009, February 2013 and August 2018, respectively. From June 2015 to
July 2018, Mr. Chui was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of PPS International (Holdings) limited (Hong Kong stock code:
8201).

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 45, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Kwong is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Kwong obtained a Bachelor’s degree in electronics from The Open
University of Hong Kong in December 2001, a diploma in information
technology from the School of Professional and Continuing Education
of The University of Hong Kong in June 2004 and a master degree in
information technology from Charles Sturt University, Australia in
November 2005.

From December 2013 to October 2015, Mr. Kwong was appointed as a
non-executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
stock code: 8269), whose principal activities involve manufacture and
sale of fresh and dried noodles, investment holding in coal trading
business, trading of natural resources and commodities and money
lender. From November 2015 to August 2016, Mr. Kwong was re-
designated as an executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited.
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Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Wang Anyuan (“Mr. Wang"), aged 50, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Wang is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree specialising in maritime and
communication accounting from the Shanghai Maritime University in
July 1994. He joined China Merchants Group and served as the
manager of the audit (risk assurance) department from September
1996 to July 2001, the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Securities (HK) Company Limited from July 2001 to January 2007 and
general manager of audit (risk assurance) department of China
Merchants Finance Holdings Company Limited from February 2007 to
February 2008. In April 2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International
Holdings Company Limited as an executive director and head of China
operation, responsible for the equity sales. From June to December
2009, Mr. Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director and
head of China operation, responsible for their securities business and
had been the account executive of CITIC Securities International
Company Limited from January 2010 to November 2012. In October
2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of brokerage department of
China Investment Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited,
responsible for securities trading. In February 2013, Mr. Wang served
as a responsible officer of China Investment Securities International
Brokerage Limited of Type 1 (Dealing in Securities) regulated activities
as defined in the SFO. Since May 2013, Mr. Wang joined Orient
Finance Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited as a business director of the
brokerage department. Mr. Wang has been appointed as an executive
director, compliance officer and authorised representative of Code
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 8153) from
September 2015 to January 2018. Mr. Wang is licensed with the SFC as
a representative of Orient Securities (Hong Kong) Limited to carry out
type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity and as a representative
of Orient Futures (Hong Kong) Limited to carry out type 2 (dealing in
futures contract) regulated activity.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 43, is our chief
operation officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily operation
and general financial management of our Group. Mr. Cheung has
joined our Group since April 2016.

Mr. Cheung has over 13 years of experience in operational
management. He obtained a bachelor's degree in mathematics from
the National Central University, Taiwan, in June 2002. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Cheung worked as an information technology engineer
in Di Sheng Computer Limited (4 B8 A R A F]*) from March 2004
to July 2005, and from January 2007 to May 2007, responsible for
conducting products testing and providing customer support. From
June 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Cheung worked as an engineer in
Chunghwa Picture Tubes, Ltd. (FZEME % {55 R A 7)) whose principal
business is involved in the optoelectronic industry (Taiwan stock
exchange, stock code: 2475, and Luxembourg stock exchange, ISIN
code: US17133M7092), responsible for supervising the production
operation and quality control, as well as managing technicians and
support staffs for improving operational efficiency. Mr. Cheung then
worked in the sale of diesel oil related business in Great Wall
(International) Company for six years from April 2010 to March 2016,
responsible for the daily operations of the sole proprietorship.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (“Ms. Leung”), aged 56, was appointed as the
Group's company secretary on 26 October 2017. Ms. Leung has been a
director of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial
services provider) since April 2016, the managing director of K E
Management & Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015
and an independent non-executive director of Green Leader Holdings
Group Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to
January 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS Hong Kong Limited
from August 2008 to October 2014.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May
2004 and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a
master’s degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales,
Australia in November 2002.
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B ot EH A R A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of F8
Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages
70 to 190, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

MRETER

BRENEE

RETFRISRERMNEXHE - BRY
AR MBRENBETRRIEEZNTIA - 5
LEHEARMBABEREAMBHRERIEA
TBREETERIEN - AT SHELFHREH
BEENER -

How our audit address the key audit matters

RANETNMRERRETSE

Allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on trade
and other receivables

EEREMERFRARFESR (AREEER]) BRE

Refer to Notes 5(b), 24 and 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.
B2 HERA M RRMEESb) - 24 2 25 -

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had trade receivables and
other receivables and deposit of approximately
HK$69,408,000, HK$23,564,000, respectively (2020:
HK$76,596,000 and HK$5,387,000) and net provision
allowance for ECL on trade receivables and other
receivables and deposits of approximately HK$3,215,000
and HK$3,902,000, respectively (2020: HK$1,771,000 and
HK$716,000).

20213 A31H - BEREESEUGRIA R E i &YW FIA
VAR Az 51149 569,408,00078 7T K 23,564,000/ 7T (20204F
76,596,000 7T % 5,387,000 7T ) + if1'E 5 & WK IE K Ho A
ERFBURRSTEREEBEREEETFES NG
3,215,0007% 7T & 3,902,0007% 7T (20204 : 1,771,000 7T &
716,000 7T) °

The determination as to whether trade and other
receivables are collectable involved high level of
management'’s judgement. Specific factors management
considered include the age of the balances, business
nature of customers, existence of disputes, recent historical
payment patterns and any other available information
concerning the creditworthiness of counterparties.
Management used these information to determine whether
a provision for impairment is required either for a specific
transaction or for a customer'’s balance overall.
ETESHREMERFRIBREAIWES REKFNERE
HEr -  EREZRNNTRRBREGHRER TREBL
B RAGEFZ OHBENFIEARBEHFHES
WEMEMAESER ERECTRABEHEANEERS
ARFERHRERE P EBRHERERE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of trade and other receivables included:
BMEEENE S REAM EWFIBERE T HETHRE
FrefE -

o Understanding and evaluating the key controls that
the Group has implemented to manage and
monitor its credit risk, and evaluating
management'’s assessment process for allowance
for expected credit losses;

R EREC BN EREEERAETE
RERHEFERR WA HEREEEHEENREEER
BRENT AR

J Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade and other receivables as at 31 March
2021 to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;
WMEBER 2021 F3 A31 AU KRN ES
Ko oAt e OsR IR BR B 1B 0 A F 48 R R SRITAEH UK
i
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Key audit matters

RARETEE

How our audit address the key audit matters

BN ETNNEEFARETSE

Allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on trade
and other receivables (Continued)

B R EMBERRRREEERRE (R

o Inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material trade and other receivables past due
as at year end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
performing public search for selected customers,
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of
and other correspondence with the customers; and
EHEEERAFHAOCANNSEERES LA
b WU R TR AR S50 A e 87 32 i DA 7 i S 5 N R R (1
MEEERFPETARAL - ENE HIC sk AR R
BEPNFEEBRAR REBERREEELHEIN
NEZR 2z REMERER) » &

o Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit losses provisioning methodology, examining
the key data inputs on a sample basis to assess
their accuracy and completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine
the expected credit losses.
AMETEMEEEBRBERTERBRE  mEELH
R ABURAH AR EEE R TRBIE - WERETE
TEEEEEIEFT AN RR (BRIERE RATRIEER) -

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables and determine allowance for ECL on trade
and other receivables to be supportable by available
evidence.

BB - EIRE R ARG E 5 K& E Ath fE Y 38 A U [El
BENAKRETE S R EMEKFBRREEHERED
HIER R AL St B A 13 BRI ©
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Key audit matters

HARETEE

How our audit address the key audit matters

EMNETNNEEFARETSE

Business Combination

EBEH

Refer to Notes 19, 20 and 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
F2HEE B HmRMTE19 - 20%35 ¢

Acquisition of subsidiaries

g 1) NG|

Refer to Notes 35 to the consolidated financial statements
B2HRE M IS TRR M FESS ©

On 21 April 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of
51% of issued share capital of Meijia Shell (Global)
Lubricant Technology Limited (“Meijia Shell”) for
consideration of approximately HK$16,380,000.
R2020F4 8210 - EREERKEBESZRRR) ER
MEBEERRAATEEZERDIEETRAE RELHOHR
16,380,000 7T °

Management has engaged an independent valuer to assist
in performing the purchase price allocation assessment on
the fair values acquired and liabilities assumed as at the
acquisition date. Goodwill of approximately HK$2,044,000
was initially recognised upon the acquisition of Meijia
Shell.

EIREC R IRB A5 BE N WEE B R pr kR AT
BMAAEEBETBEBERDRNE RNRBERRE
VI HER R E 42,044,000 87T °

Significant management judgements were involved in the
valuation methodology and underlying assumptions of the
valuation of purchase price allocation, including the
revenue growth rate and discount rate.
BEEERSEMENMETERBARR S RERERE
ST REREEEE  TAERBAERE -

Our procedures in relation to the acquisition of
subsidiaries, but were not limited to:

BPIFLEN B A RETHRFREETRR -

o Obtained and read the sale and purchase
agreement relating to the acquisition to ensure the
consideration paid, goodwill and contingent
consideration receivable have been recognised in
accordance with relevant accounting standards;
RS HEEAKEFENE E =S UEREN
RIE  BELEREAREBDAREEE S ERIE
s

. Evaluating of the independent valuer’s,
competence, capabilities, independence and
objectivity;

RHEBIRERE A B - ) - B REHM

° Involving our auditors’ expert to assist us in

assessing the methodologies and certain key
assumptions used in determining the fair values of
the net assets;

MARMZ ZBEMER AR H I EETEES
BRATEZHAERETEFERR

° Discussing with the external valuer on the scope,
and assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies used in determining the fair values
based on our industry knowledge and market
practices;

BN AR AL E RS EB S 1T AT o - WARB AP 17%
HMB L TISEPFEAREE XA TEZEETER

K/‘/_\-*é.‘--
[== =iy ==

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used by the external valuer such as
revenue growth rate and discount rate by
comparing these assumptions against relevant
market data and industry research;
AHESNBIEERFTAC TERZXEA S - ks
BRERTER  HARKZERREREHSH
BRITEMITEITLR |

o Testing the arithmetical accuracy on the calculation
of the fair values of identified net assets, goodwill
and contingent consideration receivable.
BHAFEE B EEFE BERERIARER
FEEEMBHEE -

We found the assumptions made by management in
relation to the valuation of purchase price allocation to
be supportable by the available evidence.
HPERERERBEEORAEIFL ZRREAGE
SRS
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Key audit matters

RARETEE

How our audit address the key audit matters

BN ETNNEEFARETSE

Business Combination (Continued)

A6 ()

Impairment assessment on goodwill

B R E T

Refer to Notes 19 to the consolidated financial statements
A2 HERA M HmRMEE19 -

The Group had goodwill of approximately HK$2,044,000
relating to the segment of sales and transportation of
diesel oil and related product as at 31 March 2021.
Management performed the impairment assessment of
goodwill and concluded that no impairment was
recognised as at 31 March 2021.

R202143A31H - ESREEKHIARERNHEE R
BHIEE D IR ELR2,044,0008 7T o EIEEH B
TTRERHE » AR 2021 F 3 A 31 B I SR RIE

Management engaged an independent valuer to assist in
performing impairment assessment on the goodwill using

value in use calculations.
EEELIEB I AEMBIAEREETE
(EERE

B R EETR

Significant management judgements were involved in the
underlying assumptions of the impairment assessment,
including revenue growth, discount rate and terminal
growth rate.

BERHEHERERRS REXEEE
B FRRNERIEREK -

Bk EER

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment

assessment of goodwill included:

HYEEERBBMET IRER S BRIFETZER
B
J Evaluating of the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;
AHEBYMEM B - s RFEIMN
J Assessing the methodologies used and the

appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;
RERPIERBITEZ N#REERER
ERERAZ AR BARRRZIREE

ZER ¥

o Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry; and
WIER MY EBRITEZHE - BEEMRA 2R
BRzEBEME &

o Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

WERE AR 2 B A BUR 2 BRI MARRIE -

We found the key assumptions made by management
for impairment assessment were supported by the
available evidence.
BHARAREEERRETEAEZERRRBIRAR
EXFF o

64 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Independent Auditors’ Report
B M A% B R

Key audit matters

HARETEE

How our audit address the key audit matters

EMNETNNEEFARETSE

Business Combination (Continued)

A6 ()

Fair value measurement on contingent consideration
receivable

BURRAREN D FETE

Refer to Notes 20 to the consolidated financial statements
FELMERE MR M FE20 ©

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of contingent
consideration receivables was HK$15,421,000 and the
Group recognised a gain on fair value change of the
contingent consideration of HK$1,220,000 in profit or loss.
R20213A31H - EUWEARE R FER15421,000%8
T EEEREGTRANAREATEEZY S
1,220,000/&7C ©

The measurement of fair value of the contingent
consideration receivables involved significant degree of
the management'’s judgment.

RS ARERHENA B REXRENEIRE HE -

Independent external valuation has been obtained in order
to support the management’s estimates.

EEECREBI NS EENFERENMGA -

Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement on contingent consideration receivables
including but not limited to:

BB ARB 2 ATFEABZEREFBIEED
RR

o Obtaining and understanding the Company's
process regarding the determination of fair value
of contingent consideration receivables;
ESETH BRRAHETRKIAREZAF
BENREF

J Evaluating of the independent valuers’
competence, capabilities, independence and
objectivity;

MBI AER T B8N B M RFEM

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and techniques used in
determining the fair value of contingent
consideration receivables;

A AR E T RS AR B A FENFTEIOE R
MEEEIZE

J Evaluating the appropriateness of the judgment
and estimates of key assumptions used in
determining the fair value of contingent
consideration receivables; and
AHE AR EE RS ARE 2 A FENBERRR
HE RAGETHEEE © &

o Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

WERE TR A B 2 R R AERE I -

We found that the key assumptions were supported by
the available evidence.

HIFIRA - BREBERCEMFIERS -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M % BAT R

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M A% B R

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReEEEkEtEZERER

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 F
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2021F3A31HLEE Bt EE FET FAT
Revenue Uk % 6 438,217 439,338
Cost of sales THERA (410,089) (415,521)
Gross profit EX 28,128 23,817
Other gains or losses H s sk B 8 9,587 291
Fair value change on contingent WS ARERTFES
consideration receivable 1,220 -
Fair value change on contingent FERSRAREAFER
consideration payables - 3,598
Administrative expenses THAX (16,820) (16,042)
Other operating expenses HAth @8R (7,982) (3,135)
Allowance for ECL on trade and other & 5 K H i U FKIB A M i% &
receivables and deposit, net TR EEBERE - F5 (4,586) (1,238)
Profit from operations g ER 9,547 7,291
Finance costs BB R 9 (2,745) (1,363)
Profit before taxation RR®E AR R 10 6,802 5,928
Income tax expenses FriS R F 2 1 (1,343) (1,422)
Profit for the year FRER 5,459 4,506
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMEEWE (EE)
for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to SEHMHATERN
profit or loss: I,E B :
Fair value change on financial assets ~ #ZAFE AHEMEE
at fair value through other 1451 SR REE
comprehensive income NEEE = (905)
ltems that may be reclassified HigngEfoBEEEamn
subsequently to profit or loss: BH :
Exchange differences on translating R E/GINEFSHE K =58
foreign operations 3,536 (1,027)
Reclassification for foreign operation FRE HEGINEKSEH
disposed of during the year DEE - 27
3,536 (1,000)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) BRBBREREMEE BT,
for the year, net of tax (&8E) 3,536 (1,905)
Total comprehensive income FRAXHEHKRERE
for the year 8,995 2,601
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEEkEtEERER

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2021F3A31HLEE Bt aE FET FAT
Profit/(loss) for the year FREMER(BE) :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ =N 6,387 4,664
Non-controlling interests FEFRRR M 2R (928) (158)
5,459 4,506
Total comprehensive income/ FEREEEEKE(FX)
(expense) for the year EE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZZ =N 8,331 3,221
Non-controlling interests FEVE R M A 664 (620)
8,995 2,601
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) HR K #5% GB(L) 15 0.73 0.58

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated izt At E4R A B SRR AR IS ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MR R

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
As at 31 March 2021 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
R2021%F3A31H B & FTET THET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - = MEE 16 21,621 20,494
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 17 956 245
Prepayment for right-of-use assets FHREEEENNKEA 18 8,920 8,235
Goodwill [SES 19 2,044 -
Deposits for property, plant ME - BEREREES
and equipment 25 13,867 160
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEFAERD
profit or loss DRbEE 21 4,778 4,678
Contingent consideration receivable RIS ARE 20 7,060 -
Deferred tax assets BEEFIREE 33 650 291
59,896 34,103
Current assets RENEE
Inventories ey 23 16,350 11,519
Trade receivables Y5 EW I 24 69,408 76,596
Prepayments, deposits and TERTRIE  me Rk
other receivables Hth fE W 1A 25 27,914 11,153
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEEHR
profit or loss PRAE 21 - 750
Contingent consideration receivable U AR (B 20 8,361 -
Pledged bank deposits BRI IRI TR 26 12,158 12,025
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTT4E 26 20,535 6,661
154,726 118,704
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B SN IE 27 32,517 7,729
Accruals, other payables and EEtER - EibfENTUE K
deposits received Wiz e 28 11,812 7,179
Contract liabilities AHAaE 29 5,780 4,509
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R E AR 30 21,294 16,090
Bonds payable ERHE S 32 8,800 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 648 252
Tax payables FERIBLIE 1,172 1,016
82,023 36,775
Net current assets RBEEFE 72,703 81,929
Total assets less current liabilities EEHRBERABER 132,599 116,032
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BRI R

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 %
As at 31 March 2021 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
R2021F3H31H Bt EE FET FAT
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 110 -
Bonds payable TERHES 32 = 8,800
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEAE 33 451 698
561 9,498
Net assets EEFE 132,038 106,534
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital B& R 34 8,780 8,000
Reserves = 107,703 83,772
Equity attributable to owners RAFIHE ANEEER
of the Company 116,483 91,772
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR RS 15,555 14,762
Total equity HEER 132,038 106,534

Approved and authorised for the issue by the board of Directors on 25 BRZZE-—FNA-+HABREZEFSHER

June 2021 and signed on its behalf by: BRERE  WRATATIRREFSEHE
Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
F&X sz
Executive Director Executive Director
BHITEE HITEE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated Ml A E4RE B ERER MBS ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERBREEX

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREAER
Fair value
through Amounts
other relating to
Capital comprehensive disposal Non
Share Share Other  contribution income  Exchange  group held Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve for sale eanings  Sub-total interest Total
BATEFA RRE
B EfRE HERE
e RiEE Rl RARE W EXGE HESE REEA Nt FERER &3t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
T Thr Thr Thr Thr Thr Thn Thn Thn Thn T
For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Note ) (Notei) (Note ii) (Note v) (Notev) (Note vi)
BE221 F3A31ALER (W) O OFs) (W) (B (k)
At April 2019 RN9E4F18 8,000 [yl = 24652 - 27) 6,705 88,951 - 88,951
Profit/{loss) for the year ERER/(B8) - - - - - - 4664 4664 (158) 4506
Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ EREt2AFE _ _ _ _ (565) 27 _ 1,443 ) (1,909
Profit and total comprehensive income £ MRk 2B A%
for the year - - - - (565) 27 4664 32 (620) 2,601
Recognisation of non-controlling interest ~ #323 - - - - - - - - 15,382 15,382
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RANEIANER
ANF4R1E 8,000 49,221 g 24,652 (905) (565) - 11,369 91,1m2 14762 10653
Profit/{loss) for the year ERET/ (58) = = = = = = 6,387 6,387 (928) 5,459
Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ £RE M2 EE - - - - 1,944 - - 1,944 1,592 3,536
Profit and total comprehensive income R EFIR2ANGES
for the year - - - - 1,944 - 6,387 8,331 664 8,995
Issurance of shares in accordance with
acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) 780 15,600 - - - - - 16,380 - 16,380
Recognisation of non-controlling interest  BE23: 2 iE & - - - - - - - - 129 129
At 31 March 2021 R202153A318 8,780 64,821 - 24,652 (905) 1,379 - 17,756 116,483 15,555 132,038
Notes: 3T -
(i) (1) On 12 April 2017, 200,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company were (i) (1) #2017 %4 A 12 B » 200,000,000 f% &% E11E 0.01

(ii)
(iii)

allotted and issued at a price of HK$0.32 per Share by way of Shares Offer. (2) On 20
April 2020, 78,000,000 shares at HK$0.01 each of the Company was issued under
general mandate at an issue price of HK$0.21 per Share were allotted and issued in
relation to acquisition of subsidiaries.

Share premium represents the excess of shares issue over the par value.

Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total equity of
the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries pursuant to the
Reorganisation where the transfer of the subsidiaries to the Company are satisfies
by issue of new shares from the Company. The balance was approximately HK$8.

Capital contribution reserve represents the amount of the financial impact arisen
from the transfer of business from Great Wall (International) Oil Company (Sole
Proprietorship Business) to Great Wall (International) Oil Limited.

Fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income under
HKFRS 9 that are held at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong.

The balance was approximately HK$8

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 F
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2021F3A31HLEE Bt EE FET FAT
Operating activities ReEs
Profit before taxation: MRS A - 6,802 5,928
Adjustments for: BMUTEBEELFE
Finance costs BE KA 9 2,745 1,363
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BELRE
and equipment ol Gy 8 = (545)
Depreciation of property, plant WE - BENMRIEITE
and equipment 16 2,183 2,231
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEEITE 17 564 1,224
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial BEAFEFABZAE R
assets at fair value through BERER (W), K8
profit or loss 8 (100) 471
Realised (gain)/loss on financial assets & /A F{EFT AEZA € @
at fair value through profit or loss BEDEE (W) Ei8 8 (363) 356
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries M E A R E R 8 = 27
Allowance for ECL on trade and B 5 R H A EBGRIE A K&
other receivables and deposit LEEHREEEERG 24,25 6,113 2,257
Reversal of allowance for ECL on B 5 B IA
trade receivables TEHEEEREER D 24, 25 (1,527) (1.019)
Interest Income FE WA 8 (135) 41
Fair value change on contingent W AREB AT EES
consideration receivable (1,220) -
Fair value change on contingent ENSHAREBRATFEZS
consideration payables - (3,598)
Operating cash flows before EEELRPA2RE
movements in working capital RERE 15,062 8,654
Increase in inventories FEEn (1,856) (11,542)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 EWGRIER 2 (3&h0) 9,330 (5,739
Increase in deposits, prepayments and %% ~ T FRIE & H b E UL
other receivables TRIBIE N (15,962) (3,491)
Increase in trade payables B Z IR 20,404 1,948
Increase in accruals, other payables JEETER - HithEMA B R
and deposits received B iRE g 2,401 3,974
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities & 48 & GR4 ), /1N (2,387) 4,628
Cash generated from/(used in) rREESE/(FTR)Re
operating activities 26,992 (1,568)
Income tax paid ERFTEH (1,732) (2,443)
Net cash generated from/(used in)  REFEHFRE (A RE
operating activities HEE 25,260 4,011
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2021F3A31HLEE Bt = FET FAT
Investing activities REED
Deposits for property, plant ME - BEREREZRS
and equipment (13,463) (160)
Net cash inflow from acquisition W B A RIMIR e R AT
of subsidiaries 503 -
Prepayment for right-of-use assets FREEERNKIE = (8,452)
Acquisition of property, plant WEEMZ - B SR
and equipment (2,227) (13,087)
Acquisition of financial assets at fair WHE iR A ERT AR
value through profit or loss TREE - (4,987)
Net proceed from disposal & B A B PR 1S FORF 5
of subsidiaries 36 - 4,491
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERA P ERAERD
assets at fair value through TRAEMSRE
profit or loss 1,113 227
Placement of pledged bank deposit FABEIBIRITIER (133) (8,025)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - HER&iE
plant and equipment FIT{S 3R - 545
Interest income FEMA 135 41
Net cash used in investing activities REEFEFTARSFHE (14,072) (29,407)
Financing activities RESEE
Capital contribution from non- —FME A R TR ER
controlling interest of a subsidiary AR - 15,382
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITEFPISIIE - 8,800
Proceeds from bank and other HRIT R E A S FRPTIS 5RIE
borrowings 21,800 48,990
Repayments of bank and other EEIRIT R EABER
borrowings (16,596) (35,900)
Repayments of bills payables BEENERE = (1,147)
Repayments to lease liabilities EEHERE (769) (1,217)
Interest paid BFIE (2,140) (669)
Net cash generated from RMETEMEREFHE
financing activities 2,295 34,245
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 F
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2021F3A31HLEE Bt EE FET FAT
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BRERRESEEYWH
cash equivalents #hn, ORd) B8R 13,483 827
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNHReRBLEED
beginning of the year 6,661 6,041
Effect of foreign exchange rate BINETFER BB E
changes on foreign operation 391 (207)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRABEEREEEEY
of the year
Cash and bank balances Be MIRITER 20,535 6,661
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated M sF Atk Z4z 4 B ISR R AR E D o
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

78

HE2021F3A31HILEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on
30 March 2018. The registered office of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and principal place of business in Hong Kong is
Units 3304, 33/F, Tower 1, Enterprise Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. The Company’s immediate and
ultimate holding company is Grand Tycoon Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). Grand Tycoon
Limited is controlled by Mr. Fong Chun Man (“Mr. Fong”), a
Director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries principally engaged in the business of the sale and
transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") and the
manufacturing and sale of steel products and sale of injecting
molding machine in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
(HK$'000), except when otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE2021F3A31HILEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
beginning on of after 1 April 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Internet Rate
Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

80

HE2021F3A31HILEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 16
Amendment to HKFRS 3

Amendment to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

o os W o =

The directors anticipated that the application of all the new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

Insurance Contract and the
related Amendments'

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2°

Sale or contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)!

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and related interpretations issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosure requirements by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
"GEM Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basic of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2,
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basic of preparation (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidation financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owner of
the acquire and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the indefinable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquire
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payments at the acquisition date;

° assets that are classified as held for sale in accordance with
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

FESFHBEK @)

EBast

EBWBIIABEEAR - 5608
FEOREIDARFEFE  ZRFENK
AEEFEEREERNKRBRYPNAF
B AEERARKETHEEAELED
BENARE B ETT AR A E T7 15l
BB AERENGE - BB A
—RREERRBERER

BE T HERE PISMERSN - PR R A
BAEEREENRBLEAETEME
WAE AR 2 HAELZ (R 201010 A
BN IR E B ER ) EER
BEMNTEE -

RUEE B H - PrURRE R] 8RB B K P A
BERERXTET AR I

o EIEHEEESEENEEEREF
THEBRNEESBED D RIRE
EAEHERNENRGFEHRE
BEERNEI19RES EFER
e

o HRWWBH ARN RERNK
LZHE R AR AR B
R0 5 SR 22 BE T AT SZ A 5= B A R 17
RERONRLZHNBERRAT
BB B IR E ERE 25 UK
7 BEFER T A YUE B H T PAGH

2

o REAMEREENBSHIEY
EAIER B ERE USRS
DIEAFEHEAERLEN T
MEHE R

s HEABRMNHBKHEENK(EER
BEMBRELENFE165%) HIRE
HERNETE - MBS R
BRHAFHEE  H@QESHN
BERKIEAARNSR : (b)HE
BEEEERENEERIN - £5

BERNGTE  WETHBIARKR
ETS EF AL HE R B M AF

fERK



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquire (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchases gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquire prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
a established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rate basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities)
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of
more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group which qualifies as
business combination, except for those acquisitions which qualify
as a common control combination and are therefore accounted
for using the merger accounting.

FESFHBEX @)

BE (E)

EoEkmBnReELEN (SBHEEE
Bup) egFETRENSR - NE
PR EAEL AL IRRER E A
FHUETRER A - IR |EHAENK
BMELANEENS  BOEBENR
CEABM(KReELBEMARN) RZ
BEHRMETRENR - BTl E S
BAORNHEEREE  AREBESEIE
IR E D A mENREE - B
imZBEA (RS ELEMEN) AE
HEEREENLIDEZEMEE -

RHERBARSELEN (KRS ELE
ZAERANMERREELEML) R - an
BEEHENBES BRI ABENESG
TR BEAKENERSELEM (FR
TEEBMARNAN —ERSELEL)
NEBE  MHERESREMEE
X (RS ELEN) BREREE
AEM(KReEEEMAR) B EE
HEEE -

BB A F

MEAREAREREEE BB BIR
SRRV B AR E IS R B BUR
MAEER(BREKBNER) - XNFF
HARERTES = —HEER @28
BRATEXAERNEEREENT
ERTE -

AREBRBHBEARNNEERERE
Bas SRABEEESFHEIIE - MM
ZEFWEN S ERIERLRIES A6
AIRBAFERHEIIR -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T —FFR 87



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

88

HE2021F3A31HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Under the purchase method of accounting, subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value for
the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange and, all acquisition-related
costs are expensed. |dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policy adopted by the
Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of
investee's net assets including goodwill.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provide to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocation resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the steering committee that
makes strategic decisions.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "“control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

Revenue from the from sale and transportation of diesel oil,
related products and steel product in the Group’s revenue
happen at a point in time and do not include any significant
separate performance obligations.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good
or service provided by another party before that good or service
is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

FESFHBEK @)

REFEFEHHWEE (E)

BHREEASRERAKREDAEFK
BRE(KERRESE) MEARTF
EEAMARBHEL -

HENARNANEERENARBRTF
IR 27 -

WaHREREPII VMG NEENRE
B o AKERNEMAMB O EHIES
RE PR RS

AREEWSE KB HE REXKBMN
Bt M8 B EE an K S E an O MR T S B B
B4 U NBRIAERBLENORE -

EFEARREA

WHn—H2RAEFREE MRS -
AEEeETEARTEREBR AT
RESERmABRB(NAKRER/EE
ANz 5 — R E G SR (R AR
SESREN)MBEHEE -

MRAEEERFEERARBERS
BPZAERZEmE RS - AIAEE
BREFA-

WEBNEERRES —HIRHEES
mn SRS - RINEREARIEA - 1B
AT AEEES S ARHS ER A
IMBBRREPIHEBE MRS
WEEFE - HAKRBELSREA HE
REMEAZAecBER YLD mA
MERNAE I EBRAERATY S —
77 SR E B S AR A T R AR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand- alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of ownership
interests of a property which includes both leasehold land and
non-lease building components, unless such allocation cannot be
made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate,
initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

94

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
standalone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (HK$), which is the functional currency of the
Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined and are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have
been converted into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities
have been translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses have
been converted into the Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rates over
the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this procedure
have been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the translation reserve in equity.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are included.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under "“other income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefits costs (Continued)

The subsidiaries and an associate were required to contribute a
certain percentage of the payroll of their staff to the pension
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the pension scheme is to make the required
contributions.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the
PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date
the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or services received are
recognises as expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or
modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

The property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account of their residual value, on a straight-line basis
at the following rates per annum:

Over the lease terms
30%-33%

Office equipment 20%-33%

Oil barge 10%

Leasehold improvement
Motor vehicles

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata
to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value
with absorption cost. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Absorption cost represents
the amount of proportion of direct cost and indirect cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities are possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. These liabilities
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that are
not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not
recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. Contingent assets are not
recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in banks and deposits held at call with

banks.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the financial
assets and shareholders’ rights are presented as other revenue
and other income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently of HKFRS 9 measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line
item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“"ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits and cash and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting period. Assessment are done based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings based on its historical observed default rates which is
adjusted for forward-looking estimates.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting period
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivable are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the
following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank borrowings, bonds payable,
lease liabilities, trade and bills payables, deposits received,
accruals and other payables (excluding receipt in advance)) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in the profit or loss.

Related parties transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:
() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiaries is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group which the other entity is a member;

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employees are also related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Company’s parent.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person'’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between the Group
and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those

involving estimations, that the management have made in the

process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

consolidated financial statements.

(a)

(b)

Allowance for ECL for trade and other receivables and
deposits

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 5(b).

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables and deposits is approximately
HK$69,408,000, HK$8,920,000 and deposits HK$14,644,000
(net loss allowance of approximately HK$1,400,000,
HK$3,186,000 respectively and HK$2,000 recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2021). The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group's trade and other receivables are
disclosed in Notes 5(b), 24 and 25.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-assets

ltems of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking into account
the estimated residual value. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expense to be
recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives are
based on the Group's historical experience with similar
assets and taking into account anticipated technological
changes. The depreciation expense for future periods is
adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 4. FEGTHHABRMETTHBE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZNEERRE @)

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies ERETBRNEEHE (&)

(Continued)

() Impairment of property, plant and equipment and () YE BERREBEREAEEER
right-of-use assets &
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are ME - BEMRBUARFEREEE
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and TR A AN s 2 513 & MOm E 5 BR
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is (InE) HEETEAESBRER -
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make AREBBITEHE MELET &
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event AMEFE : (WREESEHE A
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset BEMERAETEEERBE: 2
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be BEREOERGANKES%E
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value (maEAERE  MRRFEGR
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are BEMGTOALRBESCRENFH
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and B) 33 RQ) - ARG AU
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in Cl&HEMESABRR(BIERS
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow METERNMEEMELIRE) - &
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not EEETEREE (BIEFEREEE)
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an Ra ol 5B - REBEGTEE
individual asset including right-of-use assets, the Group FTBReEEBMR KB &E -
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating BIEEAEVAE R B E
unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation of ERERNTIEEDE - BEIAI UG
corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of SEIZENEBELFEEN /N
allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable HWeEESEMNARNET - BEn=
amount is determined at the smallest group of cash FEBIEY R R M (et (B R AL IR R sk
generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets WER)EE - oJeee Yo lkE S
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and HELEATE -

estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in
the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of property, R2021%3H31B B EETT
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets subject to BERHER R - B KRB KR
impairment assessment were approximately HK$21,621,000 FRESEENEREEED NN A
and HK$956,000 respectively. No impairment loss was 21,621,000 7T 5% 956,000 T °
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021. HZE2021F3A31MBIEFE - I

EREREREE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Significant judgment is required in
determining provision for taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amount that we initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the year in which such determination is made.

Valuation of inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value at the end of the reporting period. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of the estimated
selling price less the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale. Management estimate the net realisable value for
finished goods based primarily on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions. In addition, the
management perform an inventory review on a product by

product basis at the end of each reporting period and

(e) Net realisable value of inventories
assess the need for write down of inventories.
(f) Determining the lease term

As explained in Note 3, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease term
at the commencement date for leases that include renewal
options exercisable by the Group, the Group evaluates the
likelihood of exercising the renewal options taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements
undertaken and the importance of that underlying asset to
the Group's operation. The lease term is reassessed when
there is a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control. Any
increase or decrease in the lease term would affect the
amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognised in future years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31HILEE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the
value in use of fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit
(or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill is
approximately HK$2,044,000 and no impairment was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021. Details
of the impairment assessment are disclosed in note 19.

Fair value of contingent consideration receivable

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable was
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group's
management uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions, including the discount
rates and estimation of future performance. Changes in
assumptions used could materially affect the fair value of
the balances and, as a result, affect the Group's financial
condition and results of operation. At 31 March 2021, the
carrying amount of contingent consideration receivable
amounted to approximately HK$15,421,000 (2020: HK$Nil).
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. ¢®IT A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) «RTEEH
2021 2020
2021 £ 20204
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET THBT
Financial assets SRIEE
At amortised cost (including cash and  #Z# 5K (B35 H %
bank balances) RIR7THEER)
— Trade receivables — B S REKRIE 69,408 76,596
— Deposits and other receivables — e R HE MR IE 23,564 5,387
— Pledged bank deposits — BEMRITER 12,158 12,025
— Cash and bank balances — B e MRITER 20,535 6,661
125,665 100,669
At fair value B FE
Financial assets at fair value through R A FEFABHENSMEE
profit or loss 4,778 5,428
Contingent consideration receivable  JEUE AR (B 15,421 -
20,199 5,428
Financial liabilities cRaE
Amortised cost b3l
— Trade payables — B FENRIE 32,517 7,729
— Accruals, other payables and —EETER - EMEMAFUR
deposits received Lolize 11,812 7,179
— Bank and other borrowings — RITRHEMIERK 21,294 16,090
— Lease liabilities —HEBE 758 252
— Bonds payable — &SR 8,800 8,800
75,181 40,050
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEEBEEERERBEX

The management monitor and manage the financial risks

relating to the operations of the Group through internal

risks reports which analyse exposures by degree and

magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk

(including interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, cash and bank balances, financial assets at FVTPL,
contingent consideration receivables, trade and bills
payables, accruals, other payables, bank and other
borrowings, lease liabilities and bonds payable. Details of
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

(i) Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on interest bearing financial
assets, mainly the interest-bearing bank balances,
bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities. The
Group monitors the interest rate exposure on a
continuous basis and adjusts the portfolio of bank
saving balances and borrowings where necessary.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the
floating rate bank and other borrowings. The analysis
is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis point
increase or decrease throughout the reporting period
is used internally for assessment of possible change in

interest rate.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$88,900 for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$67,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates
on its variable rate bank and other borrowings. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk from variable rate bank balances is
insignificant.

Price Risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in listed equity securities. The
Directors of the Company manage this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles. The Group's equity price risk
is mainly concentrated in equity securities listed in
Malaysia industry sector quoted in ACE Market of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the year ended
31 March 2020. The Directors of the Company will
monitor the risks and consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period.

The listed equity was disposed during the year ended
31 March 2021, therefore no sensitivity analysis was
performed.

If the prices had been 15% higher/lower, the post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 would
increase/decrease by HK$113,000 as a result of
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances.
At 31 March 2021, the Group's maximum exposure to
credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Trade receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as to the
economic environment.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arises when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables arising from the sale
and transportation of diesel oil and related products
in Hong Kong and steel products in the PRC, the
Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. At the end of each reporting
period, the five largest receivable balances accounted
for approximately 48% (2020: approximately 64%) of
the trade receivables and the largest trade receivable
was approximately 21% (2020: approximately 34%) of
the Group's total trade receivables respectively from
diesel oil business. The Directors closely monitor the
risk exposure of the customers and would take
appropriate action to ensure the risk exposure is
acceptable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
reviews the recoverability of each trade debt at the
end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
allowance for ECL are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group applies simplified approach on
trade receivables to provide for the ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9. The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

5. @I A
HREREERERBE(E)

(b)

(i)

FERRERBERNG (B

B NG IE ()
HREBHEE REXRLEH R
A B dn B pA AP B 8 2 R P
EEXENEZERRGEmS -
AEBAEAETENZTFH
ST EERR - RS RS H
R AREWRHIBBESRGE
5 FE WL GRTE %) 48% (2020 4F
4964%) + MR KNERZ F RN
RBENAEEE S ERGE
“EEBAI21% (20205 © #934%)
AIPRBSEMETR - EEHY)
ERZFHER I HEEE
i DA TR BB B 1A ] 35 2
HITRE ©

SREEREEERR &1
BLZKEGEEEEREE
R EEEHLEREY
Yoo i R TS SRR IR 1T B
MEMERERF - U B
BEEREREHRRFSEE
SEH AU EIRE - AR
PR B S AT Y [B] R IR VR R 5
R (E B 1R o AN SR [ R A A
AN E 5 BIFRIA - DAL
FEREYBHREERFEOWRAA
RENBEREEBRRR
e AEBZEERE2HE
HEEEENESRAER
EUREEBEREE AR
BOGCRBEBERGTES
B AR AEENBERE
ERERYEBTIREP
DEHEATREBEERN
WERNBTBRRENERE
BEtEE-—FSROAKE
M RE P ERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. &I A

BRRREERERBEE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)
(Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (ii)

FERRERBERNG (B

B NG IE ()

TREH-ABAREER2021
FR2020F3ANBEFE
WHRIBEMEERR MIEHE

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2021 and 2020:

BEEEER

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEER HERREE EERE
At 31 March 2021 % HK$’'000 HK$'000
"20214F3H31H % FET FET
Current (not past due) BNEA (R #HA) 0.29 40,157 118
1-90 days past due BHA1ZE90H 0.68 19,659 133
91-180 days past due #HI91 =180 H 1.20 8,269 99
181-365 days past due #HI181 £ 365H 53.46 2,879 1,539
1 year to 2 years —EMF 39.45 507 200
More than 2 years BB F 97.57 1,152 1,126
4.43 72,623 3,215

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAE IR = REREE EEi=ER ]
At 31 March 2020 % HK$'000 HK$'000
720203 A31H % FHET FHET
Current (not past due) BNHA (R HA) 0.95 44,146 (421)
1-90 days past due #HI1 290 H 2.87 25,009 (719)
91-180 days past due #HI91 £ 180 H 6.57 4,583 (301)
181-365 days past due #H181 2 365 H 7.25 2,483 (180)
1 year to 2 years —EMF 6.98 2,136 (149)
More than 2 years HBIEME 10.00 10 0
2.26 78,367 (1,771)
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)
The closing loss allowances of expected credit losses
for trade and other receivables as at 31 March 2021
and 2020 reconciled as follows:

5. @I A

(b)

(i)

BRRREERERBEE)

FERRERBERNG (B

B NG IE ()

20214 2020463 A318 -

HEEE S REAMmERFIE
EHEEBENBEEEN
HERT

Deposit
Trade and other Total
receivables  receivables Total
RERkHfb
B 5 EWRIE PEW R IE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHTT T
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 A1 H (1,249) - (1,249)
Increase in loss allowance FRRE TR
recognised in profit or loss E1E R AL N
during the year (1,541) (716) (2,257)
Reversal of loss allowance FRNERPIER
recognised in profit or loss B R E R ol
during the year 1,019 - 1,019
At 31 March 2020 and 20203 A31H
1 April 2020 B2020% 4 A1 8 (1,771) (716) (2,487)
Increase in loss allowance FHRREBEEFERLN
recognised in profit or loss E1ER AL N
during the year (2,927) (3,186) 6,113)
Reversal of loss allowance FRNERPIER
recognised in profit or loss B R A ol
during the year 1,527 - 1,527
Exchange realignment M 34, 3 B (44) - (44)
At 31 March 2021 M2021%¥3H831H (3,215) (3,902) (7,117)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period
greater than agreed contract terms.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as allowance for expected credit loss within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 2 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statement.

The management monitored the financial background
and creditability of those debtors on an ongoing
basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing
with counterparties which have good credit history.
Majority of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired have no default payment history. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

Deposits

In respect of the deposits, the credit quality has been
individual assessed by general approach with
reference to historical information about the
counterparties default rate less than 1% and financial
position of the counterparties. The Group recognised
the allowance for expected credit losses by assessing
the credit risk characteristics of deposits discount rate
and the likelihood of recovery based on historical
settlement records and past experience. During the
year end 31 March 2021, the Group net provision of
the allowance for the expected credit losses related
to the deposits was amount of HK$2,000 (2020:
HKS$Nil).
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables

In respect of the other receivables, the credit quality
has been individual assessed by general approach
with reference to historical information about the
counterparties default rate 30.4% and financial
position of the counterparties. The Group recognised
the allowance for expected credit losses by assessing
the credit risk characteristics of other receivables
discount rate and the likelihood of recovery and
considering the prevailing economic conditions.
During the year end 31 March 2021, the Group net
provision of the allowance for the expected credit
losses related to the other receivables was amount of
HK$3,900,000 (2020: HK$716,000).

The analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount
and the corresponding provision of ECL on other
receivables are as follows:

5. @I A

(b) MBEMEREBERBEKGE)

(i)

FERBRNBERNE(E)

H b fEM A

HEMEWZENRS 8
EZHBA-— R E2ZEHH
HF 5 E A R304% M HF
FH AR B EE R ETE
BIEEE - AEBBE BT HE
R IEMIE RN EER
B R R IR [B] /9 AT BE M P E
BE R AE RN - RIE
HEE R B - H Z=2021
FIANBHLEFE AEHE
HEBEMEKRZKENE
HEEEBTRNBESF
%E /5 3,900,000 7T (2020 £F
716,000 7T) °

BREREEE N R
HEHEEBIBEERED
DT

At 31 March 2021
M2021%E3A31H

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—MEER EoRE F=MEE et
Not credit- Credit-
12m ECL impaired impaired
1218 A
EHEEEE IERFERE LREERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Other receivables, HoA fE WK IR
gross carrying amount REEE 12,820 - - 12,820
Transfer to stage 3 BEEE R (3,650) = 3,650 =
Less: allowance for ECL & : HibfEUFIE
on other EHEE
receivable a1 (250) - (3,650) (3,900)
Other receivable, net of ~ HAtiEWFRIE
allowance for ECL (NKREREE
BERE) 8,920 - - 8,920
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

5. 2@ A

(b)

(i)

BRRREERERBEE)

FERRERBERNG (B
H ot fEH AR (1)

At 31 March 2020
202093 A31H

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
—BEE “RER =RE et
H K$'000 HK$'000 H K$'000 HK$'000
TAT THAT THT FET
Other receivables, gross HA IR B 5,030 - - 5,030
Less: allowance for ECL & @ EtEdk A
on other HHEE
receivable Eia B E (716) - - (716)
Other receivable, net H A fE IR R SR 4314 - - 4314
Deposits with bank RIT1FEHA
Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank EEMRITERRBITEH
balances is limited because the counterparties are MEERRER J?.?’éﬁ
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by FHREERFIEEFER
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for ?&ﬁﬁ%%%@?ﬁﬁfa,\ﬁ%&mﬁﬁ
pledged bank deposits and bank balances by o REEF A EEMRT

reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on pledged bank deposits and balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss

allowance was recognised.

Fek (IR EMARAT / T —FFR

?‘m&fﬁﬁ EEREY 1218 A 78
HEEEERE  22EZ R4
BEE B A MH AR
EETFRBRNEOBRER
EHNBRENER - ERNF
BERE  BEFRITER
NiEpm 12 AEREES
BABRA/LAEKA - B E
HREBERRE -
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a
substantial portion of its financial assets and financial
liabilities are due within one year and it can finance its
operations from existing shareholders’ funds and
internally generated cash flows.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and
cash deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effect of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
current and expected liquidity requirements on a
regular basis.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest dates on
which the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash flows.
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LERMES -

EEERBDESRRT®E
AEEERTERFEERBS
BRRAEIRTT B8R MR B K
FURAEEREKEER
HES WRERSRER
PHFE - EEETHESE
BRI MFEMRBESHER -

TRHAVAEEEHAEBH
BHEHA - TREHER
BEMNKRMERSRERRE
AEBEARERENKINKT
HHRE WBHEMNE KA

TRERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

5.

HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(iii)

5. 2@ A

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHEMRSEEEREE (S
Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBESEM(E)
The tables below analyse the Group's financial TR ABZBEE AR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on AEEMERMAE Y HEE
the remaining period at the end of reporting period HE DT - DA AERR
to the contractual maturity date. Specifically, bank LHRZALHIEHEHOF &
and other borrowings with repayable on demand HH Mo LER  AERZEKE
clause are included in “on demand or within one B RN R1T R H 18 RN
year” regardless of the probability of the banks or AEERSR—FA] - T
counterparties choosing to exercise their rights. The WIRTTHREFAEETEE
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial BERIAY AT BEME - HAMIEPTAE
liabilities are prepared based on the agreed TRIBEMIEA NIRRT
repayment dates. The amounts disclosed in the table BERBEmAER - TRAE
are based on the contractual undiscounted payments, E@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\ & # AR BB A
are as follows: CEFT
More than ~ More than
Weighted ~ On demand  one year but two years but Total
average or within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
il EER HB-F RBWE FERRES
Fi7E g-FR  BORRE BOREE BBLE HEAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TAT TAT TAT TAT TAL
As at 31 March 2021 R2021F3A318
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3 {74 4 REAE
Trade payables ELANE S - 32,517 - - - 32,517 32,517
Accruals, other payables and EHER - EthEATER
deposits received Bl - 11,812 - - - 11,812 11,812
Bank and other borrowings ROREMER 10.3% 23,495 - - - 23,495 21,294
Lease liabilities HEAR 3.4% 668 114 - - 782 758
Bonds payable EfffEH 10% 9,680 - - - 9,680 8,800
78172 114 - - 78,286 75,181
Feb (ER)EBARAR / —E-_—FFRH 133
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. €I A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMERREEBERBEE)
(Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBELER(E)

More than More than

Weighted ~ Ondemand  oneyearbut  two years but Total
average or within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
il EEX BB—F HBME AERRE

MR A-FR BORWE  BOREF BERF  RERR HE(E
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% ThT TR TR TR T TR

As at 31 March 2020 R202053A31H

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ $54 4 REE

Trade payables EUT RN - 7729 - - - 7729 7,729

Accruals, other payables and [EHER - ERAFER
deposits received Bl - 7179 - - - 7,179 7179
Bank borrowings RITIER M 16,230 - - - 16,230 16,090
Lease liabilities BEBE 367 253 - - - 23 252
Bonds payable EfiER 1000 880 8984 - - 9,864 8,800
32,21 8,984 - - 41,255 40,050
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5.

HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the “on demand or
less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate carrying
amounts of these bank and other borrowings
amounted to 21,294,000 (2020: HK$16,090,000).
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the
Directors do not believe that it is probable that the
banks/counterparties will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The
Directors of the Company believe that such bank and
other borrowings will be repaid within one year after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank
borrowings agreements, details of which are set out
in the table below:

Maturity Analysis — Bank and other borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled

5. 2@ A
(b) HMERKRETEBEEREE(®E)

(iii)

REBESRER (&)

B 5% BSRE B RAIRTT
FEMEZTF AN RS
e MR Eks bR —1@EAR ]
BRER M - 722021453 A31H -
ZERTREMERERER
B £21,294,000% 7T (2020
& 116,090,000 7T ) > & &
BIREEGHEMN  EER
BIRT/HFAHITAEE
TEARBEREZERNEE
R ARRREERE %%
RIT R EME TR IFRT
BRI EENTEEERH
HRBmEBRRZE—FNE
EARER TR

BT — Bt EKEE
KEVERTT R B 15 5K (BRE

repayments ZEE)
Less than  Undiscounted Carrying
1year  cash outflows amount

REER
PR-F RERHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL THEL
31 March 2021 2021%3A318 23,495 23,495 21,294
31 March 2020 20205 3A31H 16,230 16,230 16,090
Feb¥ (ER)EBMBERAR/ T —FFR 135
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

136

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

(i)

(ii)

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively,
and

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models (e.g. discounted cash flow
analysis using observable and/or unobservable
inputs).

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining

and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5. @I R

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) () AFEMEE)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets are measured at AEBSRMEEMN LA FEUNRES
fair value on a recurring basis. MEEN A ERE -
Fair value as at
RUATRENATE
Valuation Significant
Fair Value Techniques unobservable
Financial assets 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 hierarchy and key inputs inputs
HELER IRTTEE
THEE 021F3A318  00F3A3NE AVPEER IEBAEH ZBAYE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAR
Financial assets at FVTPL: - 750 Level 1 Quoted market N/A
— Equity securities listed in Malaysia F10 prices in an TaA
BATEGABRNSREE - active market
—EBRAD FHHRAZS NERTS
RNTSEAE
— Key management personnel life 4,778 4,678 Level2 Quoted redemption N/A
insurance policy F20 value by insurance TEH
—TEEBABASRE company
N NGIE G
BOEE
— Contingent consideration receivable 15,421 - Level 3 Discounted cash flow Discount
— EYWHARE F3Mm approach factor 16%
BRBENEE AREH
16%
Financial assets at FVTOCI:
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements
BATEFARMZENGNERER
F=RATEENHE
— Unlisted equity investment in = - Level3 Market approach  Discount for lack
Hong Kong F3R THE  of marketability

—ERENF LMEERE

Except as disclosed as above, the Directors consider the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised costs in the consolidated financial
statements approximates to their fair values.

of 16%
HemEREE
16%83

B EFREES - BERA RS
SRR A RERABE S R
AERSRABEAEELATE
B -
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets.

5. @I R

(c)

NP EMT @)
EREEEIRATEFTEHHER -

Contingent
consideration
Unlisted equity receivable Total
FLmEn  BREAKE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERL FERL TET
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 518 - - -
Initial recognition of financial assets at A FEFT A2 E LG
FVTOCI TREEERER 905 - -
Fair value change ATEES (905) - -
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R2020E3 4318 K2020F4A1H - - -
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries & Y& M B 22 &1 & (H 5 35)
(Note 35) - 14,201 14,201
Fair value change ATEES - 1,220 1,220
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A318 - 15,421 15,421

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of
HK$905,000 loss relating to financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income held at the end of 31
March 2020 and is reported as fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve.

No sensitivity analysis was performed as at 31 March 2020
due to the nil balance of unlisted equity.

As at 31 March 2021, it was estimated that a 5% increase or
decrease in the discount rate but less than 10 million RMB,
of Meijia Group while holding all other variables constant
the amount of contingent receivable would increase by
approximately HK$187,000.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged during the reporting period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total
borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and injection of capital.

The following is the gearing ratio at the end of each

5. 2@ A

(d) BEXEBER
AEBEEEEER  NERERER
FaReE RS ERE(ER kg

BAEBRBRREREAE R - K&
EHERRENRERAEERTT

PINER B B RRFAWE - AEH
HERNRBEBEAER AR AE
BARGED  EREEEAN -
B AR R

RRREETHREMERERE - K

SEEZRERAKNAREZSERNE
REBERER - WiEBIRNRE R
B T EREEE R

ATREHRENRNEEABL

reporting period: =
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Total borrowings (Note (a)) BB (M5 @) 30,852 25,142
Total equity (Note (b)) ,m&ﬁn(ﬂﬁ (b)) 132,038 106,534
Gearing ratio BEAMFLE 23.4% 23.6%
Notes: B 5T
(a) Total borrowings represent bank and other borrowings, lease (a) A8 R M FE30 ~ 31 M 32PN E R 1T
liabilities and bonds payable as set out in Notes 30, 31 and 32; and REMER HEBBEREMNES
*
(b)  Total equity includes share capital and reserves at the end of each (b) HEEFPERREIROREREE -

reporting period.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts. An analysis of the
Group's revenue for the reporting period is as follows:

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Wz
Wt ERmMNERHE (HIRRER

HBRZSHH) - REBERREHREA UK
wAOMWT -

KEEFPAHNREDHF

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Type of goods or services BmAREESR
Goods transferred at a point in time REREEETR
Sale of diesel oil and related products SHE Seom R ARREE
Diesel oil ge 293,678 271,646
Marine diesel oil M F 42 63,061 55,696
Lubricant oil B 9,231 777
Sale of injecting molding machine SHE T B 5,366 -
371,336 328,119
Sales of steel products & 3 E W 66,881 111,219
Total revenue from contracts with KEEFEHWE KT
customers 438,217 439,338

The Group operates in two continuing operating segment for the
sale of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong and PRC
and manufacturing and sale of steel products, oil and sale of
injecting molding machine in the PRC.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Details of performance obligations for contracts with customers
for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 3.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers

All revenue from sale of diesel oil and related products are for
the periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

A single management team reports to the Directors (being the
chief operating decision-maker (the "CODM")) who
comprehensively manage the entire business.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are

as follows:
o Sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
o Sale of steel products

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's turnover and results by
reportable and operating segment:

Sale and transportation
of diesel oil and

7 EER
E—EREENN2ATEEREBHN
HE(NEBLEREE (TBLBRE
1)) ER -

5B B B s
BT -

o SHRIBMEMAEMES

D

o MEMMKHE

Pl YN E S

NTRERAZHFLREEDMERAEE L
HENMEENDHN

JiE]
I

Sale of

related products steel products Unallocated Consolidated
KhRAEERHE
RE& AERHE HADE B&a
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 005 20211% 005 20211% 0205  20211% 2020%F
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000 HKS$'000  HK$'000
TEr ThAr TEx TEx TEx TEr  TEx  TEx
Revenue g 371,336 328,119 66,881 111,219 - - 438217 439338
Segment result PEEE 13,951 8,608 (2,898) (350) (5,943) (1,258) 5,110 7,000
Other segment information: Hit 5 HER -
Certain other gain or losses ETEMbETER 4,437 291
Finance costs BB (2,745) (1,363)
Profit before taxation BB AR T 6,802 5,928
Assets and liabilities AEREE
Segment assets PHEE 154,799 107,858 53,958 40,427 5,865 452 214,622 152,807
Segment liabilities PEHEE 52,229 27,614 19,038 8,005 11,317 10,654 82,584 46,273
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7.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment
profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss) from each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, certain other
gains or losses, certain allowance for ECL on other receivables,
fair value change on contingent consideration receivable and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, certain
prepayment, certain other receivables, certain bank and
cash balances and other assets for corporate use;

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than bonds payable, certain accruals and other liabilities for
corporate use.
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7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

Sale and transportation

HE2021F3A31HILEE

of diesel oil and

7. oHBER @\
Hitb o &g %

Sale of

related products steel products Unallocated Consolidated
ShRERER
HERER AEREE e B&E
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 2005 2021  200%F 2021  200%F 2021%F  200F
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKH000 HKS$'000 HKFO00 HKS'000  HK$'000
TEr TEx TEx TEx TEx  TEx  TExr  TExn
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries ~ LENBAAEE - - - - - (27) - 27
Additions to non-current assets ~ FFREEER
and right-of-use assets FREEERE 1,444 510 2,058 12577 - - 3502 13087
Depreciation on property, nx - BERIENE
plant and equipment (2,164) 2.222) (19) @ - - (2,183) (2,231)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FFIEBENE (564)  (1,224) - - - - (564)  (1,224)
Gain of disposal of property, LENE  BER
plant and equipment RiEEE - 545 - - - - - 545
AllowanceforECLontradeand &5 R At EUMF B K
other receivable and deposits, KA TEHEEEE
net B 8 (1,651) (516) (1) (0 (2934) (716)  (4,586)  (1,239)
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets /A TE:t ABHA £ &
atfair value through profitorloss  ZEWiz/(518) 38 - - - - 100 (n) 100 (471)
Fair value gain on contingent EUFAREL FENRE
consideration receivable 1,220 - - - - - 1,220 -
Fair value gain on contingent ERFRREATERR
consideration payable - - - - - 3,598 - 3,598
Realised gain/(loss) on BATE J)\Tﬁﬁnﬂ']
financial assets at fair value SREERE
through profit or loss s/ (BB ) - - - - 363 (35¢) 363 (356)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group's operation is located in Hong Kong and PRC during
the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. The Group's revenue
from continuing operations from external customers based on

the location of customers are detailed below:

DEER (&)

32 & R
HZE2021FE K 2020F3A31 B ILFE -
ANEFNERNUNEBRDE - KEH
BREPHEME D RBAIINEEL NS
RIS SEBINT ¢

Revenue from external customer

REIIBEF K=
Year ended

BZEUTRHLEE
31/3/2021 31/3/2020
2021 4 2020 F
3A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T FATT
Hong Kong B 357,753 328,119
PRC H 80,464 111,219
438,217 439,338
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. oHBER @\
Geographical information (Continued) WEER(E)

AREBREEMAMEE D 25 HIER
BEENRBENFBROT :

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets are detailed

below:
Non-current assets
REEE

31/3/2021 31/3/2020
2021 %F 2020 £
3H31H 3A31H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#&xT T4
Hong Kong B 13,204 8,653
PRC M 32,160 20,481
45,364 29,134

Non-current assets excluded financial assets at fair value through ERHEETBEILEATLESAEBED
profit or loss, contingent consideration receivable, goodwill and SHMEE - - FEWHIARE BHEREL

deferred tax assets. WMIBEE -

Information about major customers

FRETERFNESR

REEFE  EFRPEBMAAKE B
BB 10% H T

Revenues from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as

follows:
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FETT
Customer A! ZHEA 54,500 45,415
Customer B’ ZE R = 45,581
Customer C' BEC 89,871 71,455

*

Note:

Revenue from the diesel oil and related products.

The customer contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

! S AR R fa i as

Fek (IR EMARAT / T —FFR
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 8. Hikzm==iEE
2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERZEHNRE
plant and equipment - 545
Realised gain/(loss) loss on financial assets & AF{EF ABENERIEE
at fair value through profit or loss S (BE) 363 (356)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets XA EFFABFH S REE
at fair value through profit or loss REH W (BE) 100 @71
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries L E R B A BB 1R = (27)
Bank interest income (Note (i) SRITR B A (BEEG)) 135 41
Transportation services fee BERRGE 590 452
Rental income from diesel vehicle RESREMNES KA 1,774 79
Government grants (Note (ii)) BT 478 Bh (B3 (i) 1,404 -
Compensation income arising i PR 8 EE A MBS B
from profits guarantee 5,150 -
Sundry income FEIRWA 71 28
9,587 291
Notes: BiRE -
(i) Bank interest income mainly represents interest generated from the deposits (i) RITFEMAEBIRRITEREENFE
in bank.
(ii) Government grants mainly included approximately HK$1,244,000 (2020: Nil) (i) BFE T 2B EE BRI R ET 2R

provided by the Hong Kong Government in relation to Employment

Supporting Scheme.

HE9 41,244,000 % 7T (2020 4F - f) ©

FINANCE COSTS 9. MERX
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T

Interest expenses on bank borrowings ARAFAZEEERTT

wholly repayable within five years EROFEFE 369 632
Interest expenses on other borrowings Ha BRI B 1,463 -
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts HRITEZHFBHE 2 8
Interest expenses on bonds BEHHF S F 880 694
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEB BN B 31 29
2,745 1,363
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10.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRBLANER
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Profit for the year has been arrived FREFNEMNBR(GEA) THEE
at after charging/(crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) BEHM(HEE12) 2,807 2,920
Other staff costs: Hi 8 T :
— Salaries and other benefits — e MEMETR 9,492 6,985
— Retirement benefits scheme — RREHE B
contributions 538 360
10,030 7,345
Auditors’ remuneration 1% E A 3 B
— Audit services — ZE R & 700 700
— Non-audit services — B RS 20 120
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses #5248 X E &R A 400,048 409,278
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - B MEREITE (i 16)
equipment (Note 16)
— Cost of sales — HEKAK 1,763 1,790
— Administrative expenses —TBHAX 420 441
2,183 2,231
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE (WE17)
(Note 17) 564 1,224
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERZENRZE
plant and equipment - (545)
Allowance for ECL on trade and B o5 NEAMEWIAEN MIES
other receivable and deposits, net TEEEEBERE - 58
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B RINGIBTEHREEHERE 2,927 1,541
Allowance for ECL on deposits and e hEMEWRGETEHEER
other receivables BT e R 3,186 716
Reversal of allowance for ECL on B 5 EWNZIEBEEEE
trade receivables BRI (1,527) (1,019)
4,586 1,238
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HHEEENAY 2,226 -
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

11. FIEHHAX

2021 2020
2021 % 2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FH&T
Current tax BNEABiTE
Hong Kong Profit Tax FEFEH 1,799 1,733
The PRC Enterprise income tax R ZEFTS R 139 -
Deferred tax EERE
Credited for the year (Note 33) FARFA (PFFE33) (595) 311)
1,343 1,422

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the "Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2019 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 millions of assessable profits of qualifying corporations
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2
millions will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of
corporations not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The two-
tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to the Group for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Accordingly, starting from the current year, the Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 millions of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 millions.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands.

Under the Laws of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (P AR MBI ZEFTEHIE) (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate for one of
the PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 11.

According to the EIT Law and the Implementation of the
Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (FF 2 A R M H (b E 15
BEE D), an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise
(/NEUFITS %) is subject to preferential tax treatments. From 1
January 2019 to 31 December 2021, a Small Low-profit Enterprise
with annual taxable income not more than RMB1,000,000 is
subject to Enterprise Income Tax calculated at 25% of its taxable
income at a tax rate of 20%. During both years, a subsidiary of
the Group is eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise and is
subject to the relevant preferential tax treatments.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income as follows:

EHRBAX @

BREBECEMEHERFEARLMBE D
EMBREEREGD - 6/ NREF B
X¥ERNEBIZXBHRERFSE - R
20191 A1H E2021F12H318  F
[E R AR B A R 1,000,000 7T
B9 /N BU ORI 1 35 AT 2 Y K 20% Bt H E AR
A 25% T H B E ST o W EF
BN AEE—FHBRRFE N
FIBEEER  W=EHEEHKES -

FAMSHAXRGEREREMEE
Yo s 5% P 51 9 R 5 A MV AT S BR A0 TS

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TE T FATT
Profit before taxation RRBE AR R 6,802 5,928
Tax at domestic income tax rates REMFTSMEFENRIE 1,122 978
Tax effect of: WG -
Tax relief of 8.25% on first HK$2 million H2 BB B TERTGETE
assessable profit 8.25% MRS E R (165) (165)
Tax relief under the Small Low-profit NERUFIEE T RIS ER
Enterprise (23) -
Tax effect of incomes not taxable for BAERBTRANT G L
tax purpose (1,075) (794)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AT B L TR A &
tax purpose 811 815
Tax effect of temporary differences EREENNBEE (595) 311
Tax effect of the tax losses not recognised KIERIHIBE BT ETE 1,474 949
Effect on different tax rates of subsidiaries A HE fth RIAMER 2B M B A FlHY
operating in other jurisdiction TRIT R & (196) (30)
Tax reduction FUR (10) (20)
Income tax expenses for the year FERTERH X 1,343 1,422
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12. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2021

12. EEHE
BZE202153HA31MBLEE

Salaries  Retirement
Directors’ and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
HeR BIK
E=ZHe Htr g R HE- R @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT TET
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Fong Chun Man FE KA 665 165 18 848
Ms. Lo Pui Yee ShExt 665 165 18 848
Mr. Chan Chi Fai BREBILE 780 193 18 991
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIFBTES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BB 4 - - - -
Mr. Wang Anyuan TRnik = = = -
2,230 523 54 2,807
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE2020F3A31BLFE
Salaries  Retirement
Directors' and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
Hek RIK
ik H A7 FTEIH R Bat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THL THL
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Fong Chun Man ik '€t - 755 18 773
Ms. Lo Pui Yee SRRt - 755 18 773
Mr. Chan Chi Fai BREBILE - 885 18 903
Mr. Li Hok Yin (Note (i) FEEEA (W) - 107 4 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUEHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EElCE4 120 - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BByEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wang Anyuan Tk 120 - - 120
360 2,502 58 2,920

150 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

12.

13.

HE2021F3A31HILEE

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive Directors’ emoluments shown were mainly for their
service in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received and receivable from the Group by these Directors in
their capacity as employees to the Group and/or in their capacity
as Directors of the Company during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020. Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and Mr. Wang Anyuan was
agreed to waive their emoluments during the years ended 31
March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Note:

(i) Mr. Li Hok Yin was appointed as executive Directors of the Company on 21
June 2018 and resigned on 21 February 2020.

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals included three (2020: three)
executive Directors of the Company for the years ended 31
March 2021, details of whose emoluments are set out above in
Note 12. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining two (2020: two) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

12. EEHM )

13.

FIRATESFMEIZEREFRERE
RRRRAEBEEHA B IR -

EXFIRNERZEESNEZE 2021 F
F2020F3 A3 AILEFEEAEREE R
BES R/ FIEARRREZGHEW
MEWAEBENIE - BB EERE
ZILAEEREZE 20213831 B IH4F
[ERIEMEEE (20204 : ) o

GGE

(i) FEBERAN2018F6 821 HEZTAAR
FIBTEE WM 202042 A 21 BELHE -

BEFHWRSREEASHMH

HE02IF3ANHLEFE A4 &ES
FMALTBERRE =Z4/2020F : =
BIPTES - BEFINFIEEN XM
12 B TMA (20205 : MB) &Zm ¥
BEE GEARAESHEBITHAE)
WEFMa=sEmT

2021 2020
2021 %F 2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits e REMET] 1,016 1,082
Retirement benefit schemes contribution R {R4E Rzt 23k 35 35
1,051 1,117
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13.

14.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

13.

BEFMRSREEANSHHN

(%)

HEFEMENATEEANFFEERSH
HEE AT

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AB A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 2 2
The number of the senior management (excluding directors) HEMWERUTHEANSREREAR
whose emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows: (TBEES) ABROT
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 T 1 1

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest
paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$Nil).

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

14.

BN ZE 20214 22020463 A31H IEETE -
AN B E T B T E BT
hEmR=HEE  EAMASKR AR
EEENRESIEABRBEE - BiEE
EREE 2021 F K% 2020F3 A31 B IEFE
[ PREE 3 [R) B IR A ) S B o

@S

HZE2021F3A3MHIEFE  EFL T
B RS (2020F : THT) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BREF

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the
following data:

AREERANBIEBRERREEEF
TR TBUERRTH

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Earnings B2F|
Profit attributable to owners of RATEAR AFENE ST
the Company 6,387 4,664
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
'000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares KRB B
Weighted average number of ordinary SAHESRERBNNE B
shares for the purpose of calculation IS Ex
basic earnings per share 873,940 800,000

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020 is based on profit attributable to owners
of the Company and the weighted average number of shares.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares is based on
shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2021 has been
adjusted for the issue of consideration shares on 20 April 2020.

Diluted earnings per share were same as the basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary share in
existence during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

BE 2021 F 20203 A 31 BILFEH)
BREXRBMNDERRNRREEG ARG
i A B B An 9 R S BT & o

LB INRE T AR E £ 2021 F 3
A 318 Ik 4 Z #1878,000,000 (2020 4F :
800,000,000) % B 2% 77 B 15 E Bt 7 2020
FAR20BFHTRERMDIEHFLTE -

HNEE 2021 F K% 20203 A 31 H L4
EMEFEETEH SRR - WS
SEENEENEREARZRF o
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

154

16. Y% - BMEKRKRE

Leasehold Motor Office  Construction
improvement Oil barge vehicles  equipment in progress Total
BENELEE KRR RE BORE  EERIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
b s it it it it
Cost 2
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 518 662 8,500 11431 33 - 2062
Additions AE - - 515 3 12,535 13,087
Disposals & - - 17) - - 2171)
Exchange alignment B HZ - - - 1) (321) (322)
At31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 8202034318
R200E4F1R 662 8,500 9775 69 12,214 31,220
Additions NE - - 169 - 2,058 2207
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) YR 2 ] (R 35) - - - 1 _ 1
Exchange alignment 5 AR - - - 2 1,081 1,083
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A31R 662 8,500 9,944 72 15,353 34,531
Accumulated depreciation: itiE:
At1 April 2019 R219F4A1H 329 1,133 9,182 2 - 10,666
Charge for the year ERx 198 850 1,164 19 - 2.231
Disposals e - - 2171 - - 2171
At31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 1202053 A31H
R2005E4A18 527 1,983 8175 4 - 10,726
Charge for the year ERx i 135 850 1,186 12 - 2183
Exchange alignment 5 AR - - - 1 - 1
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3831H 662 2833 9,361 54 - 12,910
Carrying amount: SREE :
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A31R - 5,667 583 18 15,353 21,621
At 31 March 2020 R200%F3A31 A 135 6,517 1,600 28 12,214 20494
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April 2019.

The Group does have the option to purchase the right-of- use

assets for a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms.

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Motor Office
vehicles premise Total
RE PAEYHE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT FHBT
Cost R
At 1 April 2019 (Note) 201964 A1 8 (fF3) - 1,469 1,469
Additions NE - - -
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 M2020F3 A318B &
2020F4 A1 H - 1,469 1,469
Additions = 1,275 - 1,275
Lease termination MEKIE - (1,469) (1,469)
At 31 March 2021 K20213 A31H 1,275 - 1,275
Accumulated depreciation Z2iINE
At 1 April 2019 (Note) 720194 A1 8 (ftEE) - - -
Charge for the year FALH - 1,224 1,224
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 M2020F3 H31 A &
2020F4 A1 H - 1,224 1,224
Charge for the year FALH 319 245 564
Lease termination HEZIE - (1,469) (1,469)
At 31 March 2021 M2021F3 31 H 319 - 319
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March 2021 "20214%3HA31H 956 - 956
At 31 March 2020 K2020F3 A31H - 245 245
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
Expense relating to short-term leases BRARHEERNMX 2,226 -
Total cash outflow for leases HEMHE SR8 801 1,246
Note: The Group has applied HKFRS 16 and adjusted the opening balances at 1 Mk - REB D JERE P IERE LD FE 165

W 2019 4 B 1 BEE&E -

AEERERTEREENEERE

ERREE -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T —FFR
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18.

19.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

PREPAYMENT FOR RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the balance represents the prepayment
paid by the Group in connection with right-of-use assets in the
PRC. The Group is in the progress of obtaining the land

18. EREEERNNE

MR2021FE3 A3 H - EerTEREER
PEFERAEEENESNENKE - A&
B IEAEES % -

certificate.
GOODWILL 19. BE
HK$'000
THET
Cost and carrying amounts AR REE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 7201964 51 H ~ 20203 A31H
20204 A1 H _
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) B Ui e B B8 2~ BB AR (P93 35) 2,044
At 31 March 2021 20213 A31H 2,044

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated to
individual CGUs that is expected to benefit from business
combinations. The carrying amounts of goodwill are allocated
according to the business segment as follows:

EBAnESNBEIREEYKA
EBanEamENREELEM -
BOREERES DR OBLWT -

%
[

2021
2021 %
HK$'000
FHET
Sale and transportation of diesel oil SRR IEREEREE RES
and related product 2,044

The Group tests goodwill impairment annually or more frequently
if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, no impairment loss was
recognised.
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19. GOODWILL (Continued) 19. ﬁ%(%)

The recoverable amount of above CGU has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation by Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited. The calculation used cash flow projections
based on the financial forecasts approved by the directors of the
Company covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount rates
applied to the cash flow projections are 15% (2020: Nil). The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-
year period is 3% (2020: Nil).

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The terminal growth rate used
is with reference to the long term average growth rates and
expected market development. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not cause
the recoverable amount of CGUs to fall below their carrying
amount.

Other assumptions for the value-in-use calculation related to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which included budgeted
revenue and profit margin. Such estimation is based on past
performance, existing sales contracts and management
expectations for the market development.

B eEABMNNATKESEDIRE
SRR G ERARETHNERE
B EMET - ZaTBFERENARQR]
FEEMENRAFHRYBEIANESRE
TER o B AR IR € 2 TE R M BR B AT AL
IR 5 15% (2020 4F « %) - A HEET T
FHRZMIR S REMIEREA3%(2020
Fom) o

B E R A AR B AT TS B A ]
BENTGHMESELELNSERR
BRI AT L R AR ETBEIR K o TR OKAEIE
REDNZERPTFHERELFEHTS
BHRET - BEERR TERRNE
MEREAREHE ISR ELE
A @ RIER HREE -

AREREBEAENEMERERSR
A/t AR - EhBEEERE R
MEE - BEMGATDERBERR - HA
HEAHNMEEBHMSERATER -
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20.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE

Contingent consideration receivable represents the profit
guarantee given by the Vendor as defined in Note 35 to the
Group in relation to the acquisition of Meijia Group. Contingent
consideration receivable has been designated as financial assets
at FVTPL upon initial recognition and is measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period. The movement of the fair value
of contingent consideration receivable is as follow:

20. B ERNKRE

IR B E 5 (23 RHTEE35) 3t
U 2 75 4R 8 0 A 46 B3R 44 0 0 U 4R
& BRAARBER NS RRH T
BEAFEAABENSRAE B
WEMARRAT @B - BURARE
AT EREIT -

Details of the profit guarantees are as follows: wHARBFHBLOT -

Profit guarantees Meijia Group
AR E 323
HK$'000

FHET

At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 R -
Arising from acquisition (Note 35) BB WEEE1E (i 35) 14,201
Gain on change in fair values NP EEFH K 1,220
At 31 March 2021 M2021¥3A831H 15,421

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement (the "SPA") in
relation to the acquisition of Meijia Shell (Global) Lubricant
Technology Limited and its subsidiaries (“Meijia Group”), the
Vendors have given a guarantee to the Group that the audited
consolidated net profit after tax of Meijia Group for the three
financial years ending 31 March 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31
March 2023 (each of the “Guaranteed Period”) would be no less
than RMB5,000,000, RMB10,000,000 and RMB 10,000,000 (the
“"Guaranteed Sum”) for each of the Guaranteed Period (the
"Profit Guarantee”).
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20. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE 20.

(Continued)

In case the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled for the corresponding
period/year, the Vendors shall pay of the difference between the
Guaranteed Sum and the actual audited consolidated net profit
after tax of Meijia Group (the “Shortfall”) to the Group. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, the actual audited consolidated
net profit after tax of Meijia Group did not satisfy the Profit
Guarantee. Hence, the Vendors are required to pay the Shortfall
to the Group in accordance with the terms and condition stated
in the SPA.

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable as at 31
March 2021 is determined based on the valuation conducted by
an independent firm of valuers, Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited ("Vincorn”), by using the discounted cash flow approach
and a gain arising in fair value change of approximately
HK$1,220,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2021, the contingent consideration receivable is
analysed into current asset and non-current asset as follows:

PEUR S ARIKE ()

N BRI, FERBITH R FRE
ms BEFAOAEESNRESHER
EREENEBREEZRARBRBEZLT
ZHEHmEBR(ZEZHE] - #HE2021F3A4
JNBELFE  EREENERLEEZR
BBRBEAF &R EFRE - ALt
B 5 ARE B B i Al G R R m
REELHEEE -

BR2021F3A31H  BREAREDHA
FAETREB S EE A R B
FHEER AR (B ) FERBRIE SR
EFRETHHEET MATEEZHE
AR FE 491,220,000 TR R A 1B R
FE M2 RS RER -

R2021F3A31H » BRSRAKEIZIA
TIHADNRREDEEMIEREDEE

Analysed for reporting purpose as: MEREMDITA
HK$'000
FAT
Non-current assets FERBEE 7,060
Current assets MENVE E 8,361
15,421
Feb (ER)EBARAR / —E-_—FFRH 159
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #(Z2021 3 A31 AILFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. RAFEFABENERNEE

160

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT
Investment in a listed equity in Malaysia ~ E2RFags MR E (HaEi)
(note i) - 750
Key management personnel life insurance TR EIEEAE AERE
policy (note ii) (BsEii) 4,778 4,678
4,778 5,428
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RERBEDIN A :
Current assets MBNE E - 750
Non-current assets EREEE 4,778 4,678
4,778 5,428

Notes:

(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value
which are determined by reference to quoted market bid prices. During the
year ended 31 March 2021, all listed equity in Malaysia was disposed.

The Group entered into a life insurance policies with an insurance company
to insure against the death and permanent disability of executive Director.
Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy holder are the Company, Great
Wall (International) Oil Limited, wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the total insured sum is approximately US$2,600,000 (equivalent to
HK$20,280,000). The contracts will be terminated on the occurrence of the
earliest of the death of the key management personnel insured or other
terms pursuant to the contracts. The Company paid the total insurance
premium with an aggregate amount of approximately US$639,800
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,987,000) at the inception of the policy.
The initial premium charge was approximately US$38,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$309,000). The Group may request a surrender of the
contracts at any time and receive cash back based on the cash value at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the gross premium paid at
inception plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned and minus insurance
premium charged (the “Cash Value”). A guaranteed interest rate of 4.25%
per annum applied to the contracts for the first year, followed by the
discretionary portion with a minimum guaranteed interest rate of 2% per
annum for the following years until termination. The fair value is based on
redemption value quoted by the insurance company.
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B WKRSEMSMERET - BE2021F
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AEERRBRARBRE -—MHASRE 3
TEFEFREKAGEER - RIERE - 2
FARREFBEABARRRARAZEM
BARKRWE (BER) ARERAR - RIRIRE
#9/52,600,0003 7T (#HE 7220,280,000% 7T.) ©
BHBERITRONTEEREAE FHENKIR
BAENEAARTEE M F AL IE (ARPE
EEABE) - AREIENREFRBRAEEY
REE F£47639,800 3 7t (185 72 474,987,000
PEIT) o MR IREE A A /38,000% T (HE
7 #9309,0007 7T ) o AN 5 [# 7] BE B 2 KGR
R YREERABESEENDRS A
FEARERAERC I MNRBEEMND R
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

22.

23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

22. BRAFEFAHMBZEH RS
EHEE

2021 2020
2021 4 2020 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TH T FABT
Unlisted equity ¥ LR
— Investment in an unlisted equity — R—EkLHEENERE = -
Analysed for reporting purpose as: RERENDNA -
— Non-current assets —FRBEE - -
Notes: PERE -

The investment in an unlisted equity is measured at fair value. It is the remaining
equity portion of the disposed subsidiaries. The fair value is based on the market
approach. HK$905,000 was charged to other comprehensive income relating to fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Details of fair value estimation for the year ended 31 March 2020
are set out in Note 5(c).

RN—EFLTEENRERATERE - EREH
ENBRRNRSRERTD - ATERTHEAAE -
#ZE 202093 A 31 HIEFE » 905,000 LB AR
BRATEF AR ME2ARENEHEERATES
BREMEEKE -

EHEZE2020F3A3MHIEFEAFE
HET AR IBE I 5E 5(c) ©

INVENTORIES 23. B8

2021 2020
2021 & 2020 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw material B R 695 -
Work-in-progress pank A 27 -
Finished goods SRR 15,628 11,519
16,350 11,519

All inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable B F &R AN ] #3858 2 RIK

value.

EIER
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. B BRWRIE
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THBT
Trade receivables B 5 W GRIA 72,623 78,367
Less: Allowance for impairment losses B B S RERFEREE SR
on trade receivables, net R (3,215) (1,777)
69,408 76,596
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRERZDAT
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables ATRRREHRIREZAHZS
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the B8 SR FIERE DT -

reporting periods:

2021 2020
2021 F 20206
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Within 30 days 30AA 29,038 20,298
31 to 60 days 31260H 10,831 23,848
61 to 90 days 61290H 10,811 -
91 to 120 days 91E120H 3,956 -
121 to 150 days 1212150 H 2,381 12,751
Over 150 days B8 150 H 15,606 21,470
72,623 78,367
The Group's average credit term with its customers is, in AEEEAERFPHTAHEER R
general, 3 days to 150 days. The Group seeks to maintain RIAZE1508 o REBE B EHH
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue AU B B SRR TR e R R AR A I
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. B S ARE IR E T AIER -
Details on the Group's credit policy are set out in Note 5(b). REBEEBERFFEHNHEE50) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31HILEE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

24. ESEWFIE ()

(b) Impairment assessment of trade receivables (b) E 3 EWEIERETG
Net allowance for expected credit losses on trade B rNEBTE B EE BRI E
receivables of approximately HK$1,400,000 and net loss Y58 41,400,000/ T M TEEE E
allowance for expected credit losses of approximately &5 18 HY B3 18 78 1 SHEB 49 522,000 %8
HK$522,000 have been recognised to the consolidated TEPAEREHEZ2021F &
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 2020F 3 A 31 B ILFEMEREER
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 respectively. NEHMEEm W o
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for #H E2021F &2020F3H31H Lk
the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are set out in Note FE - EHRKFIERBEN GO
5(b). TEF T EE 5(b) ©
25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. A FE - e REMEWR
RECEIVABLES 15
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T FAT
Deposits, net of allowance for ECL & (kR BEEEEIBEE)

(Note (i) (B&E®) 14,644 1,073
Prepayments (Note (ii)) TR RRIE (PR 3E (i) 18,217 5,926
Other receivables (Note (jii), net of oAb FEUCFRIE (BT EE (i)

allowance for ECL (MR TEEREE BB RE) 8,920 4,314

41,781 11,313
Less: non-current portion of deposits B Re IERNEIER (13,867) (160)
Current portion BIHAER 9 27,914 11,153
Note: B &E -

(i)

(iii)

The deposits exclude the non-current portion had a loss allowance for
expected credit loss of approximately HK$2,000 (2020: Nil).

Prepayments include the amount of approximately HK$9,600,000 for rent of
oil bridge.

The other receivables mainly include the amount due from a disposal group
was approximately HK$3,650,000 and compensation income receivable
approximately HK$5,150,000 net of loss allowance for expected credit losses
on other receivables of approximately HK$3,900,000 (2020: HK$716,000).

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are set
out in Note 5(b).

0] ERRETREENSNs AEMEEER
BRI (B /R 40 2,000 8 7T (2020 4F © #&) °

(i) TEfFRIBEIEBBHEE 49,600,000 87T

HiEWFIEEZRERREEEERIELD
3,650,000 7 7T I i s et (& 4 A 49 5,150,000 7%
TN E MR IBTERE B BENEE
# 1% #93,900,0007%8 7T (20204 : 716,000
JT) °

(iii)

HE2021FK2020F3 A31BILEFE
e N b E U UE R E R R R B E
I EE5(b)
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26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK 26. B K TE% HE KRBT

164

BALANCES P
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Pledged bank deposits BIIRIRITER 12,158 12,025
Cash and bank balances B4 MIRTTHES 20,535 6,661
32,693 18,686

At 31 March 2021, the cash and bank balances of the Group
included currencies denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately HK$323,000 (31 March 2020: HK$1,242,000).

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at bank and cash on hand
held by the Group. Bank balances earn interests at floating rate
based on daily bank deposit rates and is placed with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

The pledged bank deposits were pledged as collateral for bank

facilities and carried interest ranging from 0.04% to 0.25% (2020:
0.31% to 1.60%) per annum.
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20213 A318 REEMIES MR
TEBERBRUAREFENEELY
323,000/ 7T (202043 A31H : 1,242,000
FETT) e

RekfTERERRTERLRAEE
FRENTERE - |RITERIZEHRT
TR EIAF B RBREF L - FRE
HAY B X RCER B 5B R IFHVERTT -

BRI IR IR AR TR E A
18§ I A F KR F0.04% = 0.25%
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. ESERRIE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T

Trade payables 2 S EMNFUA 32,517 7,729

HEBETHOFHEERRZ HIEN
HeATRRRERAREERAHZS
HVE 5 e R MR RIRMRE AT

The average credit term from suppliers is up to 3 to 90 days. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020

2021 F 2020 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

T THET

Within 30 days 30HA 14,833 7,727

31 to 60 days 31&260H 6,297 -
61 to 90 days 61290H 5,532

Over 90 days im0 H 5,855 -

32,517 7,729

28. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. EFTER HhENSRERE
DEPOSITS RECEIVED Wiz
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TFETT
Accruals JEETEH 5,990 4,215
Other payables H i fE A FR0E 5,792 2,879
Deposits received e 30 85
11,812 7,179
Fe % (R EEERAR / — B = —F 45 165
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. AMEME
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THBT
Contract liabilities =¥ Jh-Li
Provision of selling steels products IRMEMNEREE &
and sales of injecting molding HE B ER
machine products
— Billings in advance of performance — RERRATTEYRIA 5,780 4,509
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract HIEHERENBESEENTEN—R
liabilities recognised are as follows: IR T
Provision of selling steels products and sale of injecting RERERHERHFEETERER
molding machine products
When the Company receives a deposit before the sales contract RKAREHEESNRBEIIWIUZ -
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of A TEAHNFARRELESANEE  HEE
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract. IS LR BLE -
Movements in contract liabilities BEREERS
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
As at 1 April M4810 4,509 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) W A A (3 35) 3,217 -
Revenue recognised that was included in st AFFIA LB BN C RN
the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (4,509) -
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of 4 RAHERUL 5 E B
recognising revenue during the year EHEERD (44,113) (110,807)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FRFH 3 A31H
receiving deposits during the year in i8] AR RUAK B R WEUR &
respect of the goods not until progress MERE LB EEI
as at 31 March 46,041 115,435
Exchange alignment b S B 635 (119)
As at 31 March MR3A31H 5,780 4,509
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

30. SRITREMER

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Secured bank borrowings (Notes (i) and (i) B3 R17E 2 (B EE () X (i) - 16,090
Secured other loan (Notes (i) and (iv)) B E A B 3R (PR3 (i) B (iv)) 21,294 -
21,294 16,090
Carrying amount repayable: FEEEMNBREE -

On demand or within one year and RERSILREBABMTEAE

shown under current liabilities N—FRNEE 21,294 16,090

Notes:

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2021, the bank borrowings of the Group was secured by the
corporate guarantee, fixed deposits and life insurance policy of the Group.
As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings of the Group was secured by the
corporate guarantee, fixed deposits and life insurance policy of the Group.

As at 31 March 2021, no outstanding bank borrowing from financial
institutions. The bank borrowings of the Group with financial institutions
amounted to approximately HK$16,090,000 with the bank facilities 1 and 2
which respectively carried at variable interest rate of the range from 3.57% to
4.88% and 2.76% to 3.97% per annum for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Other loan 1 carried at variable interest rate of the range from 5.7% to 6.6%
and other loan 2 fixed interest rate cost fixed rate ranged from 4.8% to 20.4%
per annum for the year ended 31 March 2021. From financial institutions
granted the facilities to the Group, no bank borrowings at the year end 31
March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, other loan 1 were secured by corporate and personal
guarantee, from Mr. Fong Chun Man. Other loan 2 were secured by the
shares of the Group subsidiary, Eastern Champion Development Limited.

f i

(i)

(iii)

Fek (IR EMARAT / T —FFR

MR2021F3 318 - REBAOIRITERAK
SEMNARER  THEARAZRBEE
R0 R2020F3 A31H  AEERRITER
DAREENABER  EEHFEREASRE
VEFELR -

R2021F3A31 8 - HIERE S EBEBEN XK
EERITHRR - HE202053A3NBILEE
AEBHSBEENBITIERY A
16,090,000 7T+ E A RITELE 1 R 25 BIA
P E)E F K 3.57% Z 4.88% [ 2.76% % 3.97%
B e

HE2021F3A3NBLEE  HBWER1E
FRNTEIRE6ORHTFENFIEE -
HBEF 285 FIZ N T 4.8% %= 20.4% ) [E
TEHEFEETHE - BERBBERANER
BEREAR  BE2021FE3831BILEEFE
WHEIRTTIERK

R2021F3A318 - EMEFRITIATEX
EEMHTERMBABRERR - HhEK2
T5 LA A & B [ & & F)Eastern Champion
Investment Limited B9 % {7 {EIK 1 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&E
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH T T
Minimum lease payments due: FEREEERK
Within one year —FR 663 253
More than one year but not later than iR —FE DR
two years 111 -
Less: Future finance charges B ARKREEE R (16) M
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBRE 758 252
Present value of lease liabilities: HEBERE:
Within one year —FR 648 252
More than one year but not later than HBA—FELRME
two years 110 -
758 252
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to HERANEEEENINETIIESERA
lease liabilities 3.4% (2020: 3.67%). % 3.4% (20205 : 3.67%)
32. BONDS PAYABLE 32. BEf¥EH

HE2021F3A31HILEE

The bonds payable are interest bearing at the fixed coupon rate
of 10% per annum, payable annually in arrear and repayable as

follow:

RN ESFZEEREFHMEI10%E
ARNEBEFRN  WIRATHAEE :

2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH T FHTT
Within one year —F R 8,800 -
More than one year but not later than iR —FE DR
two years - 8,800
8,800 8,800
Analysed as reporting purpose as: RERENDNTA -
Current liabilities RENAEE 8,800 -
Non-current liabilities EREBEE = 8,800
8,800 8,800

The effective interest rate of the corporate bonds for the year
ended 31 March 2021 is 10% (31 March 2020: 10%) per annum.

HE2021F3A3MHIEFE

NEES

B E B EF R A10% (20203 8310 ¢

10%) °

HZE20200F3A31MHILEE » BT AR
BHFEEERHRAE £4942,00075 7T °

For the year ended 31 March 2020, transactions costs totalling of
approximately HK$42,000 had been incurred for the issuance of
the corporate bonds.

168 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

33. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax balances recognised
and movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 2021

33 EEBIE(EE) BE

AR AREE 2021 F & 20203 A 31 H
HFEERRNTEEEHREBLEHR R EE

and 2020: g :
Expected Accelerated
credit loss tax
allowance depreciation Total
HHEE
EEEE MEMBRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THET FET
As 1 April 2019 M2019F 4718 (206) 924 718
Credited to consolidated statement of FANFAGZEERZR
profit or loss during the year (Note 11) (BzE11) (85) (226) (311)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 720203 A31H
& 20204 R 18 (291) 698 407
Charged/(credited) to consolidated ERR(GtA) EEaiBER
statement of profit or loss during the (BiFEE11)
year (Note 11) (348) (247) (595)
Exchange adjustments BE 5 % (1) - (11
At 31 March 2021 M2021%3A31H (650) 451 (199)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$22,878,000 (2020: HK$15,433,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$3,231,000 (2020: HK$335,000) arising from the
PRC which may be carried forward for five years. Other losses of
approximately HK$19,647,000 (2020: HK$15,098,000) may be
carried forward indefinitely.

RIEBR - REBARBARIEEE
£#922,878,00048 7L (20204 : 15,433,000
FETT) Al EE AR ARH ) o A A TER
RICHEFMAR - W EERELTTHBEE
EE o REERIIAE 18 B EE18493,231,000
7 7T (2020 £ : 335,000/ 7T ) Jy 3k & &
CBATRAFANEE - HinEE L
19,647,0007%8 7T (2020 4F : 15,098,000
JL) A FEMR 458 o
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34. SHARE CAPITALS 34. BRAK
Number of
Share HK$'000
RGEHE FHET
Authorised: ERE
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, R2019F4H18 »
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 202063 A318 -
2020F 4 H1H
& 20213 A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE :
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 R2019F4H18
and 1 April 2020 20203 H31 A &
2020F 4 H1H 800,000,000 8,000
Issued in consideration for the acquisition FLUEERT B A BB BT A
of the issued share capital REMETT (M)
of subsidiaries (note) 78,000,000 780
As at 31 March 2021 72021438318 878,000,000 8,780
Note: On 20 April 2020, 78,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company were M5+ 52202044 A 20 H 78,000,000 f% AN 2 &)
allotted and increased as fully paid for the acquisition of 51% issued share AREE0.01 B T R BIR D IR IE — A IR IR
capital of Meijia Shell (Global) Lubricant Technology Limited at issue price of BITEGRO.21B TR B RETRER KRS -
HK$0.21 each under the general mandate. For detail, please refer to Note NUEEERR(RR) BERRAERQRZ
35. S1%EEATIA - BEFE - B2HM35 -
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. WIBFIE 2 &

On 23 March 2020, the Company and Mr. Zhu Yixiang and Mr. Li
Weinian (collectively, the “"Vendor”) entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “SPA"), pursuant to which the Vendor
conditionally agreed to sell and the Company is conditionally
agreed to purchase 51% equity interest in Meijia Shell (Global)
Lubricant Technology Limited (“Meijia Shell”) and its subsidiaries
("Meijia Group") at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$16,380,000. The consideration was satisfied by the allotment
and issuance of 78,000,000 Shares under general mandate (the
“Consideration Shares”) at the issue price of HK$0.21 per Share
by the Company to the Vendor. The acquisition was completed
on 21 April 2020. Meijia Shell is the legal and beneficial owner of
the Meijia (Asia) Lubricant Technology Limited (“HK Subsidiary”),
which in turn is the 100% legal and beneficial owner of the
Qianhai Mika Shell (Shenzhen) Lubricant Technology Company
Limited (“Qianhai Subsidiary”) and Foshan Shunde Aodexin
Lubricant Company Limited (“PRC Subsidiary”). The PRC
Subsidiary is engaged in the business of research and
development, production, sales and distribution of lubricant in
the Asia Pacific region. Upon Completion, Meijia Group becomes
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and the financial results
of Meijia Group will be consolidated into the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

2020 3 A23 8« AARIEKEEEL
ERBESEEFEBIEFDITLEE
wER((EEHzE]) Bt EHFEHK
HREHE  MARREEKGRERE
BXERROGRIR) HERBBRAR(E
ERDEREMBAR(E=2EE])51%
B - 2R (B A 416,380,000 7T ° 1t
BUARBIRE - RIFBIZETESR
B 702178 T B 5 OB Kk B 1T
78,000,000 % B 10 (TR B0 ) & & -
W EIEN2020F4 B21 HEK - =5
BAEF(EM) BB REEBRAF
([BEMNBRARMEEEREBA
masMBARRARNEERER ORI
BB REHEERAR ([ANEMEAR )
M mEEERESEEHRERA R
([FEMBAR DB I100% A EEDES
A REKEAR R KB EEE
RERE - EE - HERDHER - R
TE EREEXNALTEBRNEEN
BAR MERSEBENTBEEBHA
KARMEEE T FERE

Consideration transferred EEENRE
HK$'000
FHET
Equity instruments issued DEITHERIA 16,380
Contingent consideration agreement (Note 20) AR B R (KMiEE 20) (14,201)
Total st 2,179
Note: BiRE

Based on the SPA, the Group is guaranteed by the Vendor that if Meijia Group’
audited net profit after tax in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard for the period from the completion date to 31 March 2021 shall be not less
than RMB5 Million and shall be not less than RMB10 million for the year ending 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2023.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$52,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expenses in the current year, within the
"administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

REEEHS  AKEHEHRE  X25ERE
BRI BREER N K B E 20216383154
RHEEZRRRATETLIRARESBET
HREIZ2022F3 A31HR2023F3 A31 BIEFE
BB ERBIRETIETIRARKI0BET

U 8 % 4 B A 40 52,0007 T2 5 A
BHEAE LERAEERRSHE
¥ HABRABENREBEAKREED
(TR ] B A -
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35. WEBFIE A R )
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUERBMEEEERERRAER
acquisition are as follows: T
HK$'000
THET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NRE 1
Inventories Ve 1,912
Trade receivable B RN RIA 3,246
Deposit and other receivables Be REAM REIKIA 2,999
Cash and bank balances R & RIRITHER 503
Tax recoverable A eI 197
Contract liabilities aBRAaE (3.217)
Trade payables B 5 ENIE (4,138)
Other payables, accruals and receipts in advanced ~ E M fERFUE - T2 B K FEWRIE (1,239)
264
The fair values and gross contractual amount of trade receivable, B 5 RUIE - Hith BUCRIEA R &
other receivables and deposits as at the date of acquisition R RN A FERE QRS BIL
amounted to approximately HK$3,246,000 and HK$2,999,000 73,246,000 7T 5 2,999,000/ 7T o 8 HA
respectively. No trade receivable and other receivables were I 8 8 5) 8 Wk A B HL A e W R TR N ]
expected to be uncollective. eI
Non-controlling interests IR R
The non-controlling interests (49%) in Meijia Group recognised at RUHE B TR N E R R B FE TR
the acquisition date was measured by reference to the R (49%) Th2E B W 5 & B )FE
proportionate share of identifiable net assets acquired and BLLBIDBCATE - £RRKIAR129,0008 7T °

approximately amounted to HK$129,000.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

35. IWEEMI B & B) (@)

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEREEEEWEE
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred EEERE 2,179
Plus: non-controlling interest (49% in Meijia Group) hNl : JE¥E S (R E R EE A 49% HEZS) 129
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired B TR EFEN RS (264)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WESEESNEE 2,044

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Meijia Group is
attributable to future growth and profitability expected to arise
from the business combination. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the Goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Meijia Group:

WEXREEELNBE AR ERKS
HIEMGELENRRIERRBNES -
ZENSTWEEFHESAER - REAR
HIWAT G Al Rl I B A M RERR IR AT

BHZERBFEEMELNBETTN
B o

BREEXERENRERAFHE

HK$'000
FABT
Cash consideration paid EfRReRE -
Add: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired  fi : B HEHIR S RIBSZEBWEEH 503
503
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

35.

36.

174

HE2021F3A31HILEE

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year is approximately HK$765,000
attributable to the additional business generated by Meijia
Group. Revenue for the year includes approximately
HK$13,583,000 generated from Meijia Group.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2020, total group
revenue for the year would have been approximately
HK$14,021,000, and profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$781,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 April 2020, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

China Forest Food Limited

On 28 March 2019, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the 90% equity interest in China Forest
Food Limited (the “Disposal”) whose subsidiaries included the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries (as defined below), which were
principally engaged in sale and distribution of health food in the
PRC, at a consideration of approximately HK$8,148,000. The
Disposal was completed on 9 April 2019.

Details of the aggregate net assets of China Forest Food Limited
and its subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as at the completion date of the
Disposal are set out below:

35.

36.

Wit B B /B 8 B ()

WEEEHAEEEENTE
FRRABIEESZEEESBGEEN
KR4 765000870 © FAMNZEBIESE
5B PTEERA) 13,583,000 7T ©

WU B =B 2 N 20204 A1 B TR
AEBMF AU B EER 475 14,021,000
BT maE NE A B 49 & 781,000%8
Lo BEEREIEHRBAR  WTHUA
RANEBFHFP2020F4 A1 H R
BEHINEBRBEREHREREEE
1B INNRIERARIREENTEA -

HEHMEQR

PERMARERAT

R2019F3 A28  AEEAILEEW
FUHETBRBFMRERAR AR (ZAF
TERFENEHERDERERD -
HH B AR BEICEGA AKRKB QR
(EERTX))B0%E(THES
E]) R{BAE#8,148,000/8 T - HESE
TER2019F4 A9 B »

RHERRETK ARG ARNEBGE Y
BHRENTFERMRMAR AR LEH
B AREEAFERENFBEIIINT

HK$'000

FET

Consideration transferred: BHEZENRE: _
Cash consideration HWEeRE 8,148
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. HEMEBE AR @)
China Forest Food Limited (Continued) FEZMNERERQIT (8)
Analysis of assets and liabilities derecognised from the HESFIETKE  BREEELGRE M HR
consolidated financial statements of the Group upon completion RERERNEENBEDN :

of the Disposal:

HK$'000
FHBT
Total assets classified as held for sale PRERFHEGEEERE 20,887
Total liabilities classified as held for sale PRRAFEFEABRE (11,834)
Net assets disposed of B EEESE 9,053
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR :
Consideration RE 8,148
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFHE (9,053)
Non-controlling interests FEE R R 905
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of KEMBRRESIEEFBANERG
the net assets of the subsidiary reclassified from BEEFEIAFIENEHERES
equity to profit or loss upon loss of control of BEMOBEEER
the subsidiary (27)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEE AR EE @7
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEERERAFE
Cash consideration RERE 8,148
Less: cash and bank balances classified as assets B DRERFEGEEENRE R
held for sales RITAE R )
Less: other receivables (Note 25) Sk B E USRI (B EE 25) (3,650)
Net cash inflow W mAFE 4,491
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #(Z2021 3 A31 AILFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

37. AR R BMRRE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FETT
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in subsidiary RMTB AR ZIRE 39 5,449 -
Current asset REBEE
Prepayment, deposits and other BNFIE - 'ER
receivables H b e IR 186 3,052
Financial assets at fair value BATFEFTAERD
through profit or loss TEEE 22 - 750
Amount due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A B B 30,319 611
Cash and bank balances B LIRTTH R 160 33,323
30,665 37,736
Current liabilities FREBEE
Accruals EatE A 2,496 1,847
Other borrowing H gk 10,000 -
Bonds payable eI ESH 8,800 -
21,296 1,847
Net current assets REBEEZFEE 9,369 35,889
Total assets less current liabilities BEERAEBABEE 14,818 35,889
Non-current liability FRBAE
Bonds payable eI ES = 8,800
- 8,800
Net assets EEFE 14,818 27,089
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital R& 7R 34 8,780 8,000
Reserves s 38 6,038 19,089
Total equity MR 14,818 27,089

Approved and authorised for issued by the board of Directors on

25 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Fong Chun Man
FEX

Executive Director

BITEF
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

38. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

38. A TEIfE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
IR E Rt EiE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHIT FAT
At 1 April 2019 7R2019F 4 18 49,221 (22,252) 26,969
Loss and total comprehensive FABEELEEEERRE
loss for the year - (7,880) (7,880)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 720203 A31H &
2020F4 A1 H 49,221 (30,132) 19,089
Loss and total comprehensive FHEBEREHEEIEERE
loss for the year - (28,651) (28,651)
Issuance of share in accordance 1R IE &I B A 71217
with acquisition of subsidiaries P& tn (B35t 35)
(Note 35) 15,600 - 15,600
At 31 March 2021 #"2021%E3H31H 64,821 (58,783) 6,038

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately HK$6,038,000 (2020: HK$19,089,000) calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

20213 A31 8B NAREAMED IR
& #96,038,000;% 7T (20204 : 19,089,000

BIT)  ThiRE
FHIFOEDIE SR

Fel 2k () EEAR AT

T —FER

2EBSHBENT)E(1961
B RIEE])ETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #(Z2021 3 A31 AILFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. TEMBE LT

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

RIEBR - AR EBHE QA
(=N

Percentage of

Place and Principle Issued and equity interest and
Date of country of  paid up capital or  voting power attributable
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation  registered capital to the company Principle activities
TERHK BRTRAR ARREMAEESER
il NGRS HEMRIEHR AR HEER EARFEMER REEEDL TREH
Direct Indirect
E& &
% %
Ruigin Investments Limited ~ The BVI, Hong Kong US$10.00 100 - Investment holding
5 January 2016
WHREBRLDA HERELHS - N 10.00% 7T REER
201661 A58
Great Wall (International) Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1.00 - 100 Sale and transportation of
Oil Limited 22 December 2005 diesel oil and related
products
R (BR)RRERAR  BE EiE 1.008 7T EhREBEMHE
20056128228 LEY
IAMEE HRHEERAF The PRC, The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 55 Manufacturing, sale and
10 July 2019 distribution of steel
products
R i AR 30,000,000 7 MEMBE  HERDH

201967 108

fRILTIEEERESREEE  The PRC, The PRC RMB10,000,000
BRAR* 15 July 2009
HE HE AE10,000,000 7

20097 A158

*

Wholly owned Foreign Enterprise
Partially owned Foreign Enterprise

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

178 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

- 51 Manufacturing, sale and
distribution of oil
products
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. FEMB AT 4
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have BEEAREREZNIEZENRE
material non-controlling interests DNEHEE
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiary of TRERNEBEAFERESTHAEEH
the Group that have material non-controlling interests: BB ATIE :
Place of Proportion of
incorporation ownership interests and
and principal voting rights held by Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AL AR FERERHEN
WELAREH TRERBE FERBERREELS  ARFHEREZNER/ (BB 2t ERER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
2021% 20205 2021 % 2005 2021 % 2204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THT THET TAT THET TAT
TEFEYNHZBRAF  PRC 45% 45% (1,302) (158) 15,040 14,762
e
Meijia Shell (Global) PRC
Lubricant Limited 49% - 374 - 515 -
EER(RR)BRRE T
BRAT
15,555 14,762
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the BEEAFERESNARESHER
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is A B AR R B T3 T
set out below. The summarised financial information below BRER AEEA AR HATNEE -

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

2021 2020
2021 F 2020F
HK$'000 HK$'000
SIEFEE HRBEERAR FERT T
Current assets MBEE 21,798 19,948
Non-current assets IEREEE 32,160 20,480
Current liabilities VEDI=RI= (20,917) (8,005)
Equity attributable to owners PN RS PNy
of the Company 18,001 17,661
Non-controlling interest of I ES N RHRBR QAR
TR EE ORI ARAT] IR 15,040 14,762
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. XEMBE AR (&)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have BREERFEREZNHZENWS
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NEIER (&)
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
IEFEES IR ERAR FHERT FHBT
Revenue = 66,881 111,219
Cost of sales $HE AR AN (66,850) (110,100)
Administrative expenses THRAX (2,926) (1,469)
Other income HA YA 3 -
Allowance for ECL on trade receivable & 5 EUGRIA K& H fth fE Y 5118
and other receivable TEEME EE R (2) -
Loss for the year/period &/ HNEE (2,894) (350)
Loss attribute to owners of the Company &R al#H AEEEIE (1,592) (192)
Loss attribute to non-controlling interests JE4 A% 42 5 fE (L 518 (1,302) (158)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) RRBGEE AL
attributable to owners of the Company ~ Hith 2 MUzt (E51E) 1,934 (565)
Other comprehensive loss attributable  FEIZEAG#E 5 FE(S
to non-controlling interests Hiv2mEEE 1,580 (462)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for HRemEmkE (EE)85E
the period 3,514 (1,027)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) A AEEEERE(BE) B8
attributable to owners 342 (757)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) IR s IR (G 2 Uk EE (B 1E)
attributable to non-controlling interests ~ 42%& 278 (620)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) HRemikas (Ei8) 8
for the period 620 (1,377)
Net cash flows used in operating activities &2 /E B FTAKIR € R E F5E (12,628) (11,333)
Net cash flows used in investing activities & /ZENFTAKIR € REFEE (2,057) (21,028)
Net cash flows generated from BB EFMELANRESREFE
financing activities 11,511 34,689
Net cash outflow/inflow Rend,/ MAFE (3,174) 2,328
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

39. FEME LT (&)

BREEARIEZRESNEZENS

REER(E)

2021
2021 %
HK$'000
Meijia Shell (Global) Lubricant Limited and EER(EBR)HBEREERATR
its subsidiaries HME LA FET
Current assets MENEE 12,507
Non-current assets FEMBEE 339
Current liabilities mEAE 11,795
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAREE ABIEER 536
Non-controlling interest of Meijia Shell (Global) =R ORER) BB AR AR
Lubricant Limited O FEH AR R 25 515
Revenue Wz 13,583
Cost of sales HEX A (10,818)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables and B 5 R IE ]2 E A EUGRIB LA &2
other receivables and deposit ReBBEEBERE (1,334)
Administrative expenses THRE X (856)
Income tax credited for the period HANET ARIFTISHE 190
Profit for the period B A 765
Profit attribute to owners of the Company RARER AEE R 390
Profit attribute to non-controlling interests FEVEE R e 2 B i A 375
Other comprehensive income attributable to RAREE AEREMEEYES
owners of the Company 11
Other comprehensive income attributable to FEPE AR PR (R Ho A 2 A
non-controlling interests 11
Total comprehensive income for the period HA2EK R AR 22
Total comprehensive income attributable WA AEEEERRAE
to owners 401
Total comprehensive income attributable to TR EEEE 2B TE
non-controlling interests 386
Total comprehensive income/loss for the period HRemkaEEAE 787
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEBFAMNR RS FE (298)
Net cash outflow We M FEE (298)
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40.

41.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

COMMITMENTS 40. &IE
Capital commitments BREIE
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T THBT
Capital expenditure in purchase of BEABEMHNERST S
oil barge 4,000 -
Capital expenditure in respect of the HREZIREZFTERRK
construction in progress, contracted RGBTSR T IR
for but not provided in the HHE AR X
consolidated financial statements 27,209 15,883
Capital injection payable to a subsidiary ER—RHWEARTE - 12,014
Acquisition of right-of-use assets FREEEWREEE 39,865 28,570
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 41. RRETF 2

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, employees are required to contribute
5% of their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(2020: HK$1,500) and they can choose to make additional
contributions. Employers; monthly contributions are calculated at
5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 (2020: HK$1,500) (the “mandatory contributions”).
Employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or
total incapacity.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from the
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represent contributions
paid or payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in
the rules of the schemes.

The contributions paid and payable to the schemes by the Group
are disclosed in Note 10.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 42. BBIRHEST &

A summary of the share option schemes of the Company are set
out in the section headed "“Share Option Scheme” in the Report
of the Board of Directors of this report.

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 March 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme became
effective on the date of the Company’s listing (12 April 2018) and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for

ten years from that date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of our Group and to
promote the success of the business of our Group.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be,
including, where required under the GEM Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors) from time to time on the
basis of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to
the development and growth of our Group.

ARBBBRAET S NMBH N AR E
ExeWmE [BEE —& -

AABBER2017FE3 A 238 FHH—E
RERRRERT 2 ([ M8 AR 8l )) - E AR AT
EINA QR ETHE(2018F4F128)
ERR BRIESHRBESHIEE] - FRIE
BZHEBR T+ FR—EEK -

BRI S ERSI RBEREFHA
B mMAKEREE(ZBERR) &
= BAA B DEE - AERE
HER - R TP BEBH LIRS
HEEREHBEINEB AR B A EE X
BRI -

B2 (BIERAME (M GEM LR RIE
K)o HBREBIIFNTES) AT TR
BE2EEHAEEBERLIERAELR
A] BEAE h # B BUR TE & X LA BB AR Y
SEEER -
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42.
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HE2021F3A31HILEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 80,000,000 shares, representing 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Share Option Scheme and as at the date of this annual
report. The maximum number of share issuable under share
options granted to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options)
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share options in
excess of this limit must be separately approved by shareholders
in general meeting. Any grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, must
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the
grantee of the Option). In addition, any share options granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, or to any of their associates, which
would result in the total number of share issues and to be issued,
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding), to such
person under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to such person in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company'’s
share at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5 million, such
further grant of options is required to be approved by
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of poll.
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 42. BB fEST &l (®)

The offer for the grant of share option must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offeror the grant of an option is HK$1. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to provision of early termination thereof. There is
no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. The subscription price of a
Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i)
the closing price of the Shares as started in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheet on the ate of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Shares as stared in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the
date of grant of the option.

At the end of the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no option
has been granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme.

BROBERENENRMELERZENR
HI(BE%B) BT HRER - BRE
S YNV S ESUES ks G e
FMARBZM1ET - ARAATRES
& AV BEEE A0 AR - RS AR IR AR MRS
BV TT B AR - METTE IS
BEG AR TF  YXBREAR
IR ATARIR - I A R IR A i
TEMNSRDHEHNBRE - REBK
REET B th ) (AT E BB AR A0 AL AD AR
BEREFeIRETLANZEE
BABERTIREE - ()RERER
HAB(BEREER)RERMEH®R
EBRABOBMDEHE : ()R EXBER
RELEHA A EZXAERIMAER
WERMMBAOBRD FHEHE - KR
BRERLAHNRNEE -
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43. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND

HE2021F3A31HILEE

43.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group had also entered into the following

material related party transaction during the reporting period:

(a)

186

Connected transactions and related party

transactions

BEXZREXEBLRXS

Bin A RS SRR A 5 FT B BB 51
IR HRT - A BN T EAR
BHRS

(a) BEXZKBABLIXZ

2021 2020
2021 & 20204
Name of the parties Nature of transaction HK$’'000 HK$'000
B & X HE FHT FHT
Kit Ho Earth Works Limited (Note (i) Sales of products - 3,373
s+ hEERR AT (M) EmiiE
Wisdri (Xinyu) Cold Processing Purchase of products
Engineering Co., Ltd (Note (ii) 63,083 12,291
RIam A GhR) RELIIM BT BR AR i
(H3EGi))
New Steel (Shanghai) Trade Co., Ltd Purchase of products
(Note (iii)) - 5,632
il (28) B SBER A E (M (i) EmiRE
Xun Xiang Metalware Company Limited Sales of diesels
(Note (iv)) 1,548 1,606
MEFHEAR AT (B v) HEL5m
Jet Good Limited (Note (iv)) Sales of diesels 306 35
H=HAR AT (M) S S
Rent expenses 1,332 -
HEMX
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 245 1,224
CREEERE
Zhi Yixiang (Note (v)) Rental expenses 142 -
Kb (BEE (V) MERF
Car rental expenses 997 -
HEE
Li Aihua (Note (vi)) Car rental expenses 71 -

FEEE (P (vi)

EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

43. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND

(Continued)

(b) Connected and related balances

HE2021F3A31HILEE

43. BERGREXRBHLER S
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (%)

(b) EREN EAHEASER

2021 2020
2021 & 20204
Name of the related parties Nature of transaction HK$’'000 HK$'000
BB 27 2B HE FHT FHT
Wisdri (Xinyu) Cold Processing Trade receivables
Engineering Co., Ltd (Note (ii) - 58
RIRREE CGiR) RELIM B EMBRAR BZSEWHKIE
(BY&E (i)
Xun Xiang Metalware Company Limited Trade and other receivables
(Note (iv)) 6,906 121
M AR 2 A (HEE v) B 5 R E A W FRIE
Jet Good Limited (Note (iv)) Accounts receivables 18 22
PEARAA (M) FEWBR R
Prepayments 275 -
B FOE
Deposits 444 889
e
Notes: FieE
(i) A close family member of an executive Director of the Company has 0] ARF—BRITE R — BB
beneficial interests in Kit Ho Earth Works Limited. BT HBERRATHA Bl
(i) A non-controlling shareholders of non-wholly owned subsidiary has (ii) FERANIE A FH) — IR R

beneficial interest in Wisdri (Xinyu) Cold Processing Engineering Co.,
Ltd.

A non-controlling shareholders of subsidiary has beneficial interest in
New Steel (Shanghai) Trade Co., Ltd.

An executive Director of the Company has beneficial interest in Xun
Xiang Metalware Company Limited and Jet Good Limited.

A non-controlling shareholder of non-wholly owned subsidiary.

A close family member of a non-controlling shareholder of non-
wholly owned subsidiary.

For the transactions constitute connected transactions
under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to the sections
"Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” under the “"Report of the Board of Directors”.

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
(vi)

EP AR GIR) R R AR
NEHEEERER

— A B A R SEE AR ARR A HT I (£
BEZERARHEAEDES

ARBMTEERAFMHER DA
;BT ERAREAEmER

FEEMBARN—BIFERRR -

FER A B A B — & IFEARAR R A9
HERE -

B EMARRAETEKEBR S

MRS FL2HEFTEHRE] A
TIHEXZRBEBERS] —
#f
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31HILEE

43. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND 43. BERSGRERBH LIRS
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (48)
(Continued)
(c) Personal guaranteed provided by key management () HEXEEBEAERENEALE
personnel *®
The bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020 AEER2020F3 A31HB K E T
were secured by personal guarantee of an executive BREARBITESTHLERER
Director of the Company, Mr. Fong, life insurance and a BEAERE T EEHEENASHRE
property owned by Mr. Fong. i VR o
(d) Compensation of key management personnel dy FEEEBEAENEE
The Directors of the Company are identified as key NAFIEEEETALAEENTE
management members of the Group and the compensation BEEAE  MBREFHESEETE
of Directors and key management personnel during the EIEABRMESHNWFI12K%13 0
reporting period is set out in Notes 12 and 13.
44. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 44. EEEH
Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to EBLTEREEEEERBT  UMEAR
secure the borrowings of the Group as follow: EEEFIER
2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THBT
Financial assets at fair value through BEAVEFAEZSRHEE
profit or loss
— Key management personnel life —TBEEBEABASRE
insurance policy 4,826 4,678
Pledged bank deposits EHEARITER 12,158 12,025
Motor vehicles RE 956 -
17,940 16,703

188
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 HILFE

45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 45. TEHFELEABENHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank and
Bank other Lease Bonds
overdraft borrowings liabilities  payables Total
RITREM

RITEX &8 HERE EAES ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THEL THET THET THET THET

At 1 April 2019 (note) #2019F4 A 18 (Fz) - 3,000 1,469 - 4,469
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERERENE
Proceed from bank borrowings RITERFTEHIE - 48,990 - - 48,990
Repayment of bank borrowings BEEBITER - (35,900) - - (35,900)
Proceed from issuing bonds BITREFMETE - - - 8,800 8,800
Payment of lease liabilities HERBNK - - (1,217) - (1,217)
Interest paid ERFE 8) (632) 29) - (669)
Total changes in financing cash flows ~ BlER & RELEETE 8) 12,458 (1,246) 8,800 20,004
Other changes: Hih &g
Interest expenses FIBHY 8 632 29 694 1,363
Accrued interest AT 2, - - - (694) (694)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 #2020 3 A 31 B R
20204 A1 - 16,090 252 8,800 25,142
Changes from financing cash flows: RERBHEERENE
Proceed from other borrowings HihfE 5 I0E - 21,800 - - 21,800
Repayment of bank borrowings Eiﬁﬁfﬂa b - (16,090) - - (16,090)
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMER - (506) - - (506)
Payment of lease liabilities HERBRN = = (769) - (769)
Interest paid ERFE (2) (1,211) (31) (896) (2,140)
Total changes in financing cash flows ~ BIER & RELEESR (2) 3,993 (800) (896) 2,295
Other changes: Hin#g) -
Addition of lease liabilities HEBBEAE - - 1,275 = 1,275
Interest expenses FIEFAY 2 1,832 31 880 2,745
Prepaid/(accrued) interest BN () A8 - (621) - 16 (605)
At 31 March 2021 W2021%F3H31H - 21,294 758 8,800 30,852
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective st AEED B XRAKET B EEBE S
method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise W EEAE165% - WH2019F4 /18
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as BHYEHAERELFIREE S ER
operating leases under HKAS 17. See Note 2. %17 if PERKEHENTEHEEHEESR

& - FH2HME2 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31HILEE

46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 11 June 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Ms. Li Loretta Shui Wah (the “Vendor”)
entered into the agreement for sale and purchase in
respect of the acquisition of the Property by the Company
pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to
acquire and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell
office 4, 6/F, Nam Wo Hong Building, 148 Wing Lok Street,
Hong Kong, at an aggregate consideration of
HK$21,000,000, which shall be paid by the Company by way
of (i) the cash of HK$9,820,000 which shall be paid in full on
completion to the Vendor; and (ii) the allotment and
issuance of the 130,000,000 new Shares (equivalent to
approximately HK$11,180,000) at the issue price of
HK$0.086 per share, credited as fully paid, for the purpose
of settling the consideration, to Mr. Li Fat Sang. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 11 June 2021
and 16 June 2021, respectively for details.

On 11 June 2021, the Company and Mr. Lee Cheuk Shun
and Mr. Fan Chunhua (“the Vendors”) entered into the
memorandum of understanding in relation to the possible
acquisition of equity interest of Marco (International)
Lubricant Technology Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands with limited liability (“Target
Company”). The Target Company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the business of technical services
support and consultation on lubricant, production and sales
and distribution of lubricant, grease and other related
products. For details, please refer to the announcement
dated 11 June 2021.

47. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

190

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issued by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2021.
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46. HEHREE

(a)

R2021E6A1MB KAFEE
W B -
Investment Limited £2 Li Loretta
ShuiWahZ =([E 5 ) Bt AR 7]
WHEZME=II L EE S - Bt
BERBBKRGREKREMNE 8 GKH
B &L E BB KEET 14855 MTT
RE6ELE - BR(E A21,000,000
B EBAARBOE S
9,820,000/ 7L (AR TR B 8L
NFEFR) : Ki)FALi Fat Sang’t
EIREITESIRIR70.086 7% TLE
2% K7 %% 77 130,000,000 A% A BE 51| 1E
R 89FE D (FBE 72 4911,180,000
BT - AERFRE -
HEREL2EARTHE S RA2021
FoANH K2021FE6A16H &
NS

7] Eastern Champion

R2021F6A11H - AR Al #EZF
BlEEERBEEXE(TER DR
8 # Macro (International) Lubricant
Technology Limited ( — fd 74 2 /&
BEXBESFEMNLINER AR
[BERAF)RENITEEKESE
I AR ER o BIR AR R EM
BAREEREHEHARMRE X
BNFERANA R EES - BEERE
A EREERBEEUARDHE
%o IR AHAEA2021F6 A
1M BB A -

47. RET|BESBBERE

GAMBBRRDN2021FE6 A28 HE
FEIERIRET) -



Financial Summary

MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &(Z2021 3 A31 BILFE

RESULT

ES

For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANABLEE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2017 20184 20194 2020 2021
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FET FET THET
Continuing operations FEREEY
Revenue Wi 180,616 164,491 229,718 439,338 438,217
Cost of sales HEMA (155,773)  (139,670)  (207,995)  (415,521) (410,089)
Gross profit = 24,843 24,821 21,723 23,817 28,128
Profit and total comprehensive ARRERABHLKRE
income for the year attributable to  HE L& EHKH
the owners of the Company from FEHMK
continuing operations ZHNELATE 7,282 1,241 5,336 4,506 5,459
Discontinued operation BRIEEEEK
Loss for the year from KRB BRI EEBR
discontinued operation FREE - - (4,532) - -
Profit for the year F 1A F 7,282 1,241 804 4,506 5,459
Attributable to TH AL
Owners of the Company RREEBA 7,282 1,241 804 4,664 6,387
Non-controlling interest EEtb g £ - - - (158) (928)
Profit for the year FREH 7,282 1,241 804 4,506 5,459
Feb (ER)EBARAR / —E-_—FFRH 191



Financial Summary

MBHE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #(Z2021 3 A31 AILFE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERAE

As at 31 March

®3A31H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2017 20184 20194 2020 2021
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FET FET THET
Non-current asset FRBEE 1,073 12,385 10,166 34,103 59,896
Current assets MENEE 49,825 88,234 108992 118704 154,726
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 188 1,183 4,522 9,498 561
Current liabilities THAaE 21,398 11,662 26,085 36,775 82,023
Net current assets RBEEFE 28,427 76,572 82,907 81,929 72,703
Net assets BEFE 29,312 87,774 88,551 106,534 132,038

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Group

had been

in existence throughout these financial years and is

presented on the basis as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated

financial statements.

192
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